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ECONOMIC REVIEW OF 2005 
 
Diversity – both hope and disappointment – was reflected in the face of 
2005. 
 
At political level, the world appeared unstable: the Middle East vacillated 
between chaos and hope, South America was rife with political uncertainty, 
Africa sank further into tragedy and difficulty, America was hit by huge 
hurricanes and Europe continued to be unable to reform its institutions. 
 
In fact, 2005 will have left few cherished memories. 
 
Ironically, national economies did not suffer from this state of affairs 
despite the complications arising from the sharp rise in commodity prices. 
Global growth continued to be solid and inflation under tight control. 
However, the overall statistics concealed widely diverging individual 
situations. 
 
The Chinese economy's robust health and the solid performance of the US 
and emerging market economies boosted global economic growth, despite 
the inability of Europe to contribute or even, in fact, to benefit. 
 
Business investment and consumer spending drove the growth in the United 
States, which recorded its fourteenth consecutive year of growth. However, 
while the country's economic engine continues to churn out growth, the 
risks related to US household debt and the catastrophic trade deficit should 
not be underestimated. The Federal Reserve's pragmatic approach to 
interest rates succeeded in maintaining a fragile balance, but at the cost of 
several bouts of tightening during the year. 
 
After having managed to clean up corporate balance sheets and the 
country's financial system, Japan finally pulled out of its deflationary spiral 
and returned to growth. 
 
The euro zone was fortunate that the fallout from the rejection of the draft 
constitution by voters in certain member countries was more political than 
economic in nature. 
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In fact, the financial markets were relatively indifferent to the results of 
these referenda, since listed companies are generally multinationals whose 
exposure to specific geographic events is limited. 
 
On the monetary front, the euro lost ground against the dollar but this 
helped exporting companies. Germany, for example, while confronted with 
a lacklustre economy because of the need for structural reform (much like 
France), managed to return to growth for the first time in several years 
thanks to exports. 
 
The French economy grew by 1.4%, well below the level of 2% needed, 
among other things, to create jobs and reduce the high unemployment 
which government programmes have scarcely been able to contain given 
their well-recognised limitations. Structural inefficiencies in the 
organisation and operation of both the public and private sectors together 
with deepening public-sector and social security deficits are holding back 
economic growth. The economy is being driven exclusively by consumer 
spending, yet consumer confidence is at its lowest levels despite the 
government's effort to encourage consumption. 
 
The political stakes at play in France in 2007 are likely to preclude any 
decisions being taken on structural fundamentals in 2006. The market's 
growth is being driven by other economies and sustained domestic demand, 
which would appear to be the only factors providing any hope of a pick-up in 
French growth, which is forecast at 2% for the coming year. 
 
In this lacklustre environment, our own business, which is essentially tied to 
domestic market trends, remained buoyant in 2005, notably in terms of 
lending and insurance. Favourable developments with regard to Blue 
Passbook accounts and a low cost of risk contributed to our results, which 
increased from their levels in 2004 despite lower margins and heightened 
competition not only for products and loans but also increasingly with 
regard to commission income. 
 
The loyalty, energy and responsiveness of our members, elected directors 
and employees, each in their own way, made these results possible. They 
added considerably to the group's financial health, enabling Crédit Mutuel, 
thanks to its corporate values, to support and develop customer and 
member projects under conditions of intense competitive pressure. 
 
An alliance was concluded with the Savoie-Mont Blanc group, which has 
operations in the two départements in the Savoy region. In joining the 
common Caisse Interfédérale, Savoie-Mont Blanc will benefit from additional 
resources to accelerate its development. This new alliance adds to those 
already in place with the Sud-Est and Ile-de-France groups. 
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Extraordinary general meeting 
 
The alliance with the Savoie-Mont Blanc group required modifications to be 
made to the Articles of Association to allow the Caisses Locales of Savoie-
Mont Blanc to become affiliated with the Banque Fédérative du Crédit 
Mutuel (BFCM). 
 
 

Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors is composed of elected directors from our three 
partner companies as well as from groups holding shares. 
 
Details of the legal provisions pertaining to the Board of Directors’ 
composition and the mandates of its members are included as an appendix 
to this report. 
 
At the Ordinary General Meeting held on 4 May 2005, the mandates of Jean-
Marie CONROY, Roger DANGUEL, Jean-Louis GIRODOT and Paul SCHWARTZ 
were renewed for three years. The meeting of the Board of Directors that 
followed the General Meeting appointed Paul SCHWARTZ as Vice Chairman 
of the Board for the period of his term as a Director. 
 

 
MARKET ACTIVITIES 
 
In terms of capital markets activities, 2005 will be remembered for the 
establishment of a common dealing room for Crédit Mutuel Centre Est 
Europe–CIC (CMCEE-CIC) by placing under the same operations department 
the trading staff from BFCM, CIC and CIAL. Known as CM-CIC Marchés, the 
new dealing room provides the Group with the means to raise the resources 
it needs to refinance the growth of its activities and with a dealing room 
that can serve the needs of its different clients: companies, local 
governments, large companies and private banking and institutional clients 
seeking innovative capital markets products such as those developed for our 
own requirements. 
 

Cash resources and refinancing 

 
BFCM treasurers now work in a fully integrated manner with CIC treasurers. 
Together they are responsible for refinancing CMCEE-CIC. In 2005, the 
Treasury unit further increased the volume of resources raised on the 
market while also continuing to diversify financing sources both 
geographically and in terms of types of investors and products. Total 
resources raised on the markets by the group's Treasury unit amounted to 
more than €70 billion at 31 December 2005. 
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Acting as the central refinancing unit, BFCM alone raised resources totalling 
€55 billion across the full range of the interest-rate curve. To diversify its 
financing sources and internationalise its investor base, BFCM has both 
domestic and international securities issuance programmes whose ceilings 
were raised in 2005. The ceiling for the Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) 
programme was raised from €10 billion to €15 billion while the ceiling for 
the Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN) programme was raised from €15 billion 
to €20 billion. 
 
In short-term financing, BFCM is in the front ranks of ECP issuers, and ECP 
outstandings totalled more than €8 billion at the end of 2005. Moreover, 
resources raised on the interbank market and issues of negotiable 
certificates of deposit (NCD) provide an efficient complement to the ECP 
programme. 
 
Medium-term resources were raised primarily through our EMTN programme 
whose outstandings stood at nearly €16 billion at 31 December. These 
securities are now also placed beyond the borders of the euro zone: further 
to a presentation of the group in Asia, Asian investors took a large share of a 
USD 1 billion issue. Note also that €850 million in super-subordinated 
securities were issued in 2005, boosting the group's capital. 
 
In accordance with our internal investment rules, we are required to hold a 
securities portfolio which constitutes a liquidity reserve enabling us to 
secure our refinancing activity. This portfolio of very high credit quality 
comprises government and corporate bonds that can be instantly realised or 
sold if the need arises. 
 
During the year and within the framework of the tenth agreement signed in 
2004, BFCM continued to call on the European Investment Bank (EIB) to 
refinance the loans granted to small- and medium-sized enterprises and 
local governments. 
 

Dealing room services for corporate clients 

 
For its network and its clients that actively use dealing room products, the 
sales force offers market-making services in areas ranging from foreign 
exchange and interest rate hedges to placement. 
 
In 2005, this activity was characterised by heightened interest rate 
volatility, enabling us to post an increase of more than 30% in our interest 
rate derivatives business. 
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Risk management 

 
The dealing room must operate within the limits set by the Board of 
Directors concerning interest rate, foreign exchange, liquidity and 
counterparty risk. Compliance with these limits is monitored and reported 
on a daily basis. 
 
At 31 December 2005, equity requirements as defined by the Capital 
Adequacy Directive (CAD) amounted to €93 million. Value at Risk (VaR) is 
calculated daily by the Kondor+ application based on the analytic method. 
The maximum potential loss at 31 December 2005 was estimated to be 
€11.2 million at ten days with a 99% confidence interval. 
 
Daily immediate liquidity covered an average of 65% of CMCEE customer 
demand deposits. At 31 December 2005, the equity and permanent 
resources ratio stood at 65.3% and liquidity gaps on all maturities of one 
year and above remained stable. 
 

 

Management of CMCEE-CIC payment flow platforms and transaction 
processing 
 
BFCM represents the CM-CIC group for the management of the systems used 
to clear large amounts: Paris Net Settlement (PNS), Real Time Gross 
Settlement (RTGS) and Association de Banques Européennes (ABE), in 
addition to the Relit Grande Vitesse (RGV) settlement/delivery system. In 
this capacity, it is responsible for the smooth flow of transactions and for 
liquidity management. 
 
In 2005, the CM-CIC group processed an average of nearly 11,300 
transactions worth an average of €32 billion a day on these platforms, for its 
own account and for its bank clients. 
 
Moreover, in addition to handling its own transactions, BFCM provides 
processing services for various group entities such as BECM, Caisse Centrale 
du Crédit Mutuel, Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc and Crédit Mutuel Midi-
Atlantique. Altogether this amounted to 46,300 transactions worth around 
€1,735 billion. 
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RELATIONS WITH LARGE COMPANIES AND FINANCIAL ENGINEERING 
 
Trends in the market for large companies were mixed in 2005: 

 

- in the first half, lines of credit continued to be renewed at lower 
interests rates;  

- in the second half, corporate merger and acquisition activity resumed, in 
part taking over from where investment funds had left off and leading to 
a recovery in the credit activity while maintaining historically low levels 
of risk. 

 
CM-CIC pursued its strategy based on: 

 
- strengthening ties with large clients notably thanks to arranging major 

financing transactions, 
- winning new clients, primarily in the retail and service sectors, 
- integrating even further the group's business lines, in particular involving 

securities advisory services, leasing and foreign branches. 
 
The trend in corporate mergers and acquisitions continued in early 2006, featuring deals of 

a rarely seen scope expected to bring considerable change to the competitive landscape. 

CM CIC, especially active in the energy and infrastructure sectors, is well-positioned to take 

part in these huge transactions and thus to increase its presence with the new groups. 

 
 
SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 
 
The portfolio of investments in subsidiaries and associates and participating 
loans had a total value of €3,741.9 million at 31 December 2005 compared 
with €3,949.6 million one year earlier. 
 
The most significant events affecting these interests during the year 
involved: 
 

 
- Devest 8 SAS: formation of a new legal entity with a share capital of 

€37,000, wholly-owned by BFCM; 
 

- Devest 9 SAS: in 2005, BFCM, the sole shareholder, decided to 
dissolve this company through the complete transfer of its assets and 
liabilities; 
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- Investmonde SAS: this legal entity, 99.99%-owned by BFCM, 

increased its capital from €38,036 to €10,038,021 for the purpose of 
subscribing for the capital increase of Le Monde Partenaires et 
Associés. Investmonde's capital increase took place via the 
incorporation of the €10,000,000 shareholder advance granted by 
BFCM; 

 
- Investessor SAS: at the end of the year, Investessor reduced its 

capital by reducing the nominal value of its shares from €93 to €5.20, 
with no change in BFCM’s 33% ownership interest. Note that this 
reduction was voluntary and was not occasioned by losses; 

 
- Axxes SAS: BFCM purchased a 25% interest (€1,250,000) on the 

formation of this company whose purpose is in particular to manage 
relations with toll road operators for the implementation of Europe-
wide interoperable remote toll systems for heavy goods vehicles; 

 
- Club Sagem SAS and Safran SA: accounting reclassification of these two lines in the 

portfolio of investments in associates. BFCM owns: 
- 15.7% (€55,968,463) of the capital of CLUB SAGEM (SAFRAN's leading 

shareholder); 
- and 0.1% of the capital of SAFRAN (€5,045,696). 

 
- Caisse de Refinancement de l'Habitat SA: BFCM was asked to buy 

92,755 shares (€1,463,674) as part of the annual adjustment to CRH's 
shareholder structure. On completion of the transaction, BFCM owned 
8.89% of the share capital; 

 
- SAEM Caléo: BFCM purchased 7.5% (€225,000) of the capital of this 

semi-public company set up by the town of Guebwiller to operate and 
manage its gas and water activities; 

 
-  SAEM Mulhouse Expo: purchase from a former shareholder of shares 

in this semi-public company whose purpose is to manage the 
Mulhouse Trade Show Centre (Parc Expo). BFCM's interest amounts to 
6% (€72,000); 

 
- SA des Galeries Lafayette: after having bought shares worth 

€76,093,647 the entire holding was sold in early 2005. 
 
 
INFORMATION ON THE ACTIVITY AND RESULTS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
COMPANIES CONTROLLED BY BFCM (Article L.233-6 of France's 
Commercial Code) 
 
Pursuant to the above-mentioned article, the report submitted to the 
General Meeting must include the results of subsidiaries and companies 
controlled by BFCM, presented by sector of activity. 
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FINANCE AND SIMILAR ACTIVITIES 

 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial SA (CIC): Was 2005 a year of transition? As 
much could be said of several successive years, but the expression does 
reflect a tangible reality at all levels. 
 
1/ The major projects initiated five years ago are reaching a conclusion. 

 
This is first of all true of CIC's retail banking network: 

- the pooling of its information system with Crédit Mutuel and its 
deployment in specialised segments are well under way; 

- with regard to the network's expansion and upgrading, considerable 
efforts have been made concerning half of the existing network with 286 
branches created (increasing their number by 20% in six years), 210 
branches moved to new locations and 440 renovated since 1999; 

- all sites now operate under the CIC name; 
- the five regional operating divisions are now in place. 

 
The pooling of resources reached an important milestone with the 
adoption of a cross-company approach to all head office functions and 
logistics services based on a large-scale automated process shared with 
Crédit Mutuel. 
 
Business lines have been dealt with one by one. 
 
After private banking in 2004, which is now ready to enter a growth 
phase as witnessed by the establishment of a Banque Transatlantique 
subsidiary in Brussels, and the three regional private equity divisions, 
capital markets activities are next in line.  
 
In order to avoid piling up risks, to give a clear and consistent picture of 
these activities and to develop concerted sales efforts, the decision was 
taken to group together in a single dealing room all capital markets 
activities in metropolitan France. These activities are split between two 
sites (Paris and Strasbourg) and report to a single functional and 
operating department. They are organised into three business lines: 

 
- cash resources and refinancing, notably in liaison with the foreign 

branches, 
- commercial dealing room services, oriented towards the group's 

clients be they companies, financial institutions or local government 
bodies, 

- own-account trading (arbitrage, loan book management and 
alternative investments). 
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Particular care was taken to ensure that the transfer of risks on structured products did 

not interfere with the intended goals of the reorganisation launched earlier. 

 
Since each specialised business line is dealt with successively, these 
efforts will continue in 2006. They will involve financing activities for 
large companies, specialised finance and international operations, going 
beyond what has already been accomplished to set up a single business 
line centre for the processing of all products sold to the retail network's 
corporate clients. 

 
2/ The investments that have already been made are beginning to produce results while the 

risk profile is improving. 

 
Among other things, the priority placed on retail banking development has made it 

possible to: 

- win more than 160,000 new customers (3,627,922 at 31 December 
2005 as opposed to 3,462,526 at 31 December 2004); 

- speed up customer loan production (up by 23%), and in particular 
home loans (up by 32%); 

- increase balance sheet savings deposits, including special savings 
deposits (up by 3%) and demand deposits (up by 8%); 

- inject new life into the non-life insurance activity (number of policies 
up by 34% and annual production of new policies up by 38%); 

- post increases in financial fees and commissions of 10% and insurance 
fees and commissions of 20%. 

 
The group share of consolidated net profit increased by 5.1% to €578 
million from €550 million in 2004 thanks to positive contributions from 
all business lines with the exception of capital markets activities. 
 
CIC's net banking income decreased by 3.2% (from €3,374 million to 
€3,266 million) primarily because of a €388 million drop in net banking 
income from capital markets activities. 
 
Net banking income generated by retail banking (82% of the total) 
increased by 3% (from €2,608 million to €2,685 million) while the 
division's pre-tax profit was up by 36.1% (from €485 million to €660 
million). 
 
Net banking income from private banking increased by 5.8% (from €313 
million to €331 million) while net banking income generated by the 
private equity activity increased 3.5 times, from €70 million to €247 
million, primarily because of the measurement at fair value of the entire 
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portfolio in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 
 
The net banking income generated by financing and capital markets 
activities plummeted from €431 million to €17 million, which was 
essentially the result of the transfer of the risks on structured equity 
products. The portfolio, containing nearly 400 contracts for total 
outstandings of €17 billion, mainly consisted of products with multiple 
underlyings and barriers. The portfolio's risk was highly concentrated on 
certain maturities and securities representing potentially heavy losses. A 
decision was made to transfer the risk on these holding starting in June 
and completed by 31 December. 
 
The losses on the sale of these securities totalled €597 million and there 
was a management loss of €46 million in the first half of the year. After 
factoring in gains of €183 million related to IFRS, the structured products 
activity trimmed €484 million from net banking income in the first half 
of 2005 and generated a net post-tax loss of €320 million for the full 
year. 
 
The cost of specific risks fell from 0.42% to 0.13% of total loans 
outstanding, i.e. to €102 million compared with €287 million in 2004. 
The coverage ratio of doubtful and disputed loans stood at 65% at the 
end of 2005.  
 
Return on equity (ROE) came to 10.8%. 
 
CIC's European solvency ratio (tier-1 capital), calculated in accordance 
with IFRS, was 7.0% at 31 December 2005. 
 
Lastly, on 11 May 2006, the Management Board will propose to the 
General Meeting the payment of a net dividend of €4.10 per share. 
 
Further to its purchase of 6.6 million CIC shares in connection with the liquidity 

contract, BFCM owned 70.81% of CIC's share capital. 

 
Banque de l'Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique SAS (BECM): 
BECM operates mainly in two markets: the large- and medium-sized 
corporate segment and the financing of property market professionals 
(property developers, property companies and the financing of assets). In 
this last area, BECM is the CMCEE-CIC group's key bank. In addition, it has an 
asset management activity for company owners and mangers, proposes 
tailored payment flow management products to its corporate clients and 
supports the development of Franco-German companies through its 
Frankfurt branch. 
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In 2005, BECM generated a net profit of €48.2 million before transfer to the 
fund for general banking risks, an increase of 56%. The growth in loans 
outstanding and resources made it possible for BECM to post a substantially 
improved interest margin (12.6%). Fee and commission income continued to 
grow strongly thanks to the technical skills of the group’s staff and the 
quality of the products and services offered to clients. Risk was kept at a 
low level. After transferring €11.6 million to the fund for general banking 
risks, the net profit for the year amounted to €36.6 million (up by 75%). 
 
During the year, BECM increased its capital from €84,000,000 to 
€86,294,420. BFCM subscribed for €19,860,036 and its percentage ownership 
was reduced from 100% to 98.5% after Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel de 
Normandie acquired a holding. 
 
Ventadour Investissement SA: Ventadour's main activity continues to be 
making equity investments in other companies. The gross value of its 
interests outside the Crédit Mutuel Group amounted to €0.9 million, 
unchanged since the end of the previous year. At the end of 2005, the CIC 
line was unchanged at €1,110 million. In the first half of the year, 
Ventadour again increased its capital (by €90 million from €108 million to 
€198 million), with BFCM subscribing for the entire amount. 
 
ICM Finance: this Swiss financial institution continued to develop its 
brokerage activity for marketable securities in a satisfactory manner, 
benefiting from strong market performances in 2005. 
 
Groupe Sofemo SA: Sofemo's activities continue to be mainly focused on the 
production of instalment payments1 and on developing seller credits. Net 
customer loans outstanding increased from €208 million to €237 million 
during the year, and a net profit of €2.7 million was recorded for the year. 
Before earnings appropriation, the company's shareholders’ equity 
amounted to €19.2 million. 
 
CM-CIC SCPI Gestion SA: Formerly called CMIG, this manager of property 
companies (Sociétés Civiles de Placement Immobilier or SCPI) has managed 
two such companies since 1 January 2005, “Crédit Mutuel Immobilier 1” and 
“Ouest Pierre Investissement”. It recorded a net profit of €34,340 for the 
year. 
 
Mutuel Bank Luxembourg: a 60%-owned subsidiary of Banque 
Transatlantique, Mutuel Bank Luxembourg again recorded accelerated 
growth in 2005, increasing its client base by nearly 10% and assets under 
management by more than 17%. The strength of the financial markets led to 
a new increase in volumes processed and net banking income rose 
substantially from €3.750 million to €4.950 million (up by 32%). 
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Banque de Luxembourg: Banque de Luxembourg, the CM-CIC group's centre 
of expertise in international private banking, recorded highly satisfactory 
revenue growth in 2005. 
 
The bank's investment approach, which involves seeking steady 
performances over the long term and preserving capital, paid off during the 
year. After having proven the relevance of this approach in the difficult 
early years of the decade, Banque de Luxembourg confirmed its wisdom in 
the more favourable market environment of 2005. With its entire range of 
funds often outperforming the market average, Banque de Luxembourg was 
named, for the third consecutive year, the best European fund manager by 
Lipper, the fund rating agency. 
 
In the area of managed accounts, Banque de Luxembourg relied in particular 
on a multi-management approach using its own funds and a selection of the 
best international funds. Its expertise in this area derives from its 
specialised subsidiary Fund-Market, an independent investment fund advisor 
and the centre of expertise for the entire CM-CIC group with regard to 
selecting third-party and multi-management funds. 
 
Banque de Luxembourg also met the specific needs of non-resident clients in 
the areas of tax and estate planning, notably through the use of specialised 
Luxembourg investment vehicles. It also assisted a certain number of high-
net-worth investors planning to establish residence in Luxembourg because 
of the elimination of the wealth tax in the Grand Duchy as from 1 January 
2006. 
 
Moreover, it continued to make its private banking expertise available to 
asset management professionals through a comprehensive range of services 
primarily related to custodial activities, investment funds and the design 
and distribution of financial products. In 2005, Banque de Luxembourg 
added to its expertise in structured products, dedicated investment funds, 
hedge funds, private equity and venture capital. 
 
At 31 December 2005, Banque de Luxembourg had total assets of €12.8 
billion. Customer deposits of cash and securities totalled €50.3 billion, an 
increase of 40%. This strong growth in activity, combined with constant 
efforts to contain costs, enabled it to record a profit of €60 million, up by 
16.5%. 
 
Banque du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France SA: Considerable thought is being 
given to the reorientation of this bank's activity within the context of the 
group's medium-term strategic direction. 
 
Boréal SAS: in a context once more favourable to its activity, Boréal 
consolidated its relations with clients and increased its sales efforts in 2005. 
Its revenues increased by 6.7% and its profit by 13.5% thanks to investments 
made in 2004. 
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CM-CIC Lease SA: for the third consecutive year, domestic property lease 
production remained above €4 billion (signed notarised contracts totalled 
€4.6 billion). 
 
With €344 million in new leases (€328 million worth of signed contracts), 
10% more than in 2004, CM-CIC Lease was one of the top five companies in 
the sector. Leases averaged €1.4 million.  
 
In 2005, CM-CIC Lease fully integrated into its single management platform 
the lease portfolios resulting from the mergers in the second half of 2004. 
For this reason, its outstandings doubled in less than a year and its 
operating costs were cut. 
 
The net profit for the year amounted to €20.6 million, slightly less than in 
2004 (€22.1 million) when the company benefited from the positive effect 
of the mergers. 
 
Migration to a new information system was completed as planned in 
November 2005. Thanks to the use of a multiple-site application, the day-
to-day management of portfolios has been greatly facilitated, leaving the 
company free to play its role as the group's centre for the business line. 
 
Its lease portfolio was stable with 55% concerning industrial and warehouse 
premises, 23% shops, 12% office space and 10% miscellaneous. 
 
Before earnings appropriation, the company's shareholders’ equity 
amounted to €84.8 million, including the portion corresponding to hidden 
reserves. 
 
 
CM-CIC Asset Management SA (CM-CIC AM): in 2005, CM-CIC AM joined the 
ranks of France’s leading asset managers. 
 
CM-CIC AM resulted from the merger of Crédit Mutuel Finance and CIC Asset 
Management, as part of CM-CIC's strategy of streamlining its business line 
centre organisation. The new company has a staff of 184 including 60 
portfolio managers and assistants, and manages more than €49 billion in 
assets in nearly 850 funds. 
 
As in 2004, net asset inflows excluding employee savings schemes were 
almost entirely for money-market funds (nearly €1.5 billion) and formula 
funds (€320 million). Despite the recovery of stock market indices, the 
market continued to shun traditional mutual funds. 
 
In this environment, CM-CIC AM focused its efforts notably on the formula 
funds that accommodate investors' relative risk aversion. Thanks to its 
substantial offer of guaranteed funds, as well as that of more opportunistic 
and sophisticated funds for more experienced investors, the Crédit Mutuel 
and CIC networks were able to attract inflows and win market share for this 
asset class. 
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In 2005, for the third consecutive year, CM-CIC AM staff received recognition from the 

market in the form of "Lauriers d'Or" from Investor Magazine for mutual funds and an 

excellent showing in the Edhec Alpha League tables in recognition of CM-CIC AM's ability to 

generate substantial capital gains on a regular basis. These performances attest to the 

successful integration of staff following the merger and the implementation of uniform 

investment processes based on the best practices of each company. 

 
To augment its capabilities, CM-CIC AM continued to upgrade its IT software 
and without disturbing the flow of work, migrated to new valuation and 
managed account management systems on time. It is also in the process of 
introducing new integrated order input, portfolio processing, decision-
making and performance allocation systems. 
 
Revenues for 2005, consisting mainly of management and transaction fees 
and commissions, amounted to €246 million, while operating expenses 
totalled €243 million and consisted primarily of fees and commissions paid 
to the two distribution networks, Crédit Mutuel and CIC. Net profit for the 
year came to €3.6 million compared with €3.3 million in 2004. 
 
Crédit Mutuel Participation SA (CMP): Following a year of stability in terms 
of assets under management in 2004 despite record payouts 
counterbalanced by nearly €145 million in assets unfrozen under the Sarkozy 
law, assets under management grew sharply (up by 23%) in 2005 despite the 
unfreezing of assets under the Breton measures.  
 
CMP recorded a profit for the year, enabling it to increase its total fees and 
commissions paid to the network by 39% compared with 2004. 
 

INSURANCE 

 
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel SA (GACM SA): GACM's main 
activity involves taking and managing equity interests in insurance and 
reinsurance companies. It has no operating activities of its own. 
 
GACM is the parent company of: 
- the life insurance companies ACM Vie S.A., Sérénis Vie and International 

Crédit Mutuel Life (ICM Life), 
- the non-life insurance companies ACM Iard, Sérénis and Assurances du 

Sud, 
- the reinsurance company International Crédit Mutuel Réinsurance (ICM 

RE), 
- several services companies, Procourtage, Euro Protection Services SA and 

ACM Services. 
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GACM also owns interests in several foreign companies: 
- 10% of the capital of three Canadian non-life insurance companies of 

Mouvement Desjardins, 
- 30% of the Tunisian company Astree, 
- 10% of Société Royale Marocaine d’Assurance – Al Watanya. 
 
In addition, GACM has significant interests in French non-life insurance 
companies: 

- 49% of the capital of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Nord Iard SA, 
- 34% of the capital of Suravenir Assurances SA. 
 
During the year, GACM carried out the following transactions: 
 
- acquisition of 30% of the capital of the insurance company Astree, which 

is listed on the Tunis stock exchange; 
 
- payment of the amount owed for the second half of the capital increase staged by 

Sérénis Vie (formerly Télévie) in 2004; 
 
- successive purchases of shares in Assurances du Sud S.A. which were sold by minority 

shareholders. At the end of 2005, GACM owned 99% of the capital of A.D.S. S.A; 
 

- payment of a dividend in shares, resulting in a capital increase from 
€681,149,685.50 to €701,845,332. All shareholders opted for the 
payment of the dividend in shares and shareholders’ equity increased by 
€35,155,894.99; 

 
- purchase of 10% of the capital of Royale Marocaine d’Assurance – Al 

Watanya; the purchase was carried out simultaneously with the 
Moroccan company Finance.Com; 

 
- increase in BFCM's current account shareholder advance to GACM, from 

€43,447,969.91 to €63,447,969.91 to complete the financing of its 
purchase of a 10% equity interest in Royale Marocaine d’Assurance - Al 
Watanya. The authorised ceiling for such advances was increased to €100 
million at the end of June 2005 by a decision of BFCM's Board of 
Directors. 

 
GACM recorded a profit of €68,233 thousand in 2005 compared with €62,357 
thousand in 2004, an increase of 9.4%. 
  
GACM chose to form a tax group with its subsidiaries ACM Vie S.A., ACM Iard 
S.A., ACM Retraite S.A., Assurances du Sud S.A., Procourtage S.A., Euro 
Protection Services S.A., ACM Services and Sérénis Vie (as from 1 January 
2005). 
 
As in previous years, BFCM chose to reinvest its dividend of €19,674,881 in 
shares. 
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IT SERVICES 

 
Euro-Information SAS: Euro-Information had a good year in 2005 resulting in 
a net profit of €57.4 million, significantly better than in 2004, notably 
because of the application of the new rules concerning asset valuations. 
Euro-Information, 16%-owned by BFCM, is the holding company for all the 
Group's IT and technical subsidiaries. 
 

PROPERTY 

 
CM-CIC Participations Immobilières SA: On behalf of the Group, CM-CIC 
Participations Immobilières participated in 19 new programmes representing 
a total of around 1,150 residential units in 2005. The company invests 
alongside property developers in raising funds for property investment 
companies involved in residential building programmes. It had sales of €213 
million and reported a net profit of €1,624 thousand for the year. 
 
Sarest SA: in 2005, Sarest, a property improvement company, had a good 
year in Alsace Lorraine in terms of production despite a tight property 
market, with 150 lots sold and preliminary agreements signed for another 
218, representing total revenues of €25.3 million. As from 2006, Sarest will 
expand its business into the Franche-Comté, Burgundy and Rhône-Alpes 
regions. It reported a net profit of €1,605 thousand in 2005. 
 
CM-CIC Agence Immobilière SAS: a property broker for new residential 
units, CM-CIC Afedim2 works collectively for the retail networks of Crédit 
Mutuel and CIC within the framework of the Hoguet law. This internal 
service provider targets investor clients and first-time home buyers. The 
programmes it promotes are previously approved by a committee that 
includes the commitments, wealth management and marketing and sales 
units. In 2005, 3,070 residential units were sold for a total of €483 million 
generating fees of €20 million excluding tax, and net profit for the year 
came to €365,748.  
 
Sofédim SAS: Sofédim generates its revenues primarily through the 
arbitraging of property assets, delegated project ownership contracts, 
management on behalf of investors and own-account property development 
transactions. It made a profit of €98 thousand for the year. 
 
 

MEDIA 

 
Société Civile de Gestion des Parts du Crédit Mutuel dans le Journal 
L'Alsace: the 55% equity interest in the newspaper L'Alsace is carried on the 
balance sheet at €1.6 million. 
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Société Française d'Edition de Journaux et d'Imprimés Commerciaux "L'Alsace" SAS: this 
holding company, 23%-owned by BFCM, controls all the companies of the L'Alsace group 
with activities in publishing, communications, radio and advertising. 

 
Devestmédia SAS: this wholly-owned subsidiary of BFCM purchased no new 
equity interests in the media and communications sector during the year.  
 
 

SERVICES AND OTHER 

 
SNC Réma: SNC Réma is an equipment-resale specialist whose sales 
increased by 44% from €5.6 million to €8.1 million in 2005, generating a 
profit of €33,187. 
 
Bischenberg SA: for the second year in a row, Bischenberg's sales declined. 
At €2,897 thousand, they were down by 8% relative to 2004 and by 9.5% 
relative to 2003. As a result, the company recorded a loss of €54 thousand 
for the year. Expenses related to Villa Mathis contributed €22.5 thousand to 
sundry charges and capital expenditure totalled €112,700. The occupancy 
rate was 57% and outside clients accounted for 27.5% of sales. 
 
Sofédis SA: 2005 sales amounted to €41.2 million, i.e. more than in 2004, 
generating a profit of €4 million. Sofédis now supplies articles to all Crédit 
Mutual federations and all CIC banks.  
 
Devest 6 SA: this company manages aeronautics-related services through a 
leasing arrangement with a local partner.  
 
 
TRENDS AND PROSPECTS  
 
Early in 2006, BFCM decided to acquire, in a financial partnership with 
Groupe L'Est Républicain, a regional press division held by Groupe 
Delaroche. The partnership took the form of a joint venture company called 
Ebra SAS. 
 
BFCM's business this year will depend largely on how well capital markets 
hold up, the level of refinancing costs and the dividends paid by 
subsidiaries. 
 

 

FINANCIAL DATA RELATING TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF BANQUE FÉDÉRATIVE DU CRÉDIT MUTUEL  
 
Financial statements 
 
Pursuant to Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 relative to the application of 
International Accounting Standards (IAS), the consolidated financial 
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statements for Banque Fédérative Du Credit Mutuel (BFCM) for the year 
ended 31 December 2005 were prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European 
Union at that date.  
 
The IFRS that were used to prepare the consolidated financial statements 
include the IAS and IFRS 1 to 5, their interpretations as adopted by the 
European Union and the June 2005 amendment to IAS 39 relating to use of 
the fair value option not yet adopted by the European Union.  
 
The reported 2004 consolidated financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with French generally accepted accounting practices (French 
GAAP). The 2004 consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with IFRS but excluding IAS 32 and 39, that are presented together with the 
consolidated financial statements for 2005 were prepared in accordance 
with the 2004 version of IFRS, which does not include IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 
4. The latter standards have been applied as from 1 January 2005 in 
accordance with IFRS 1. 
 
At 31 December 2005, BFCM's total consolidated assets, stated in 
accordance with IFRS, amounted to €298.9 billion compared with €261.4 
billion at the end of 2004, an increase of 14.3%. 
 
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss totalled 
€33.2 billion at the end of 2005. They consisted mainly of derivatives and 
other trading financial liabilities in addition to amounts owed to credit 
institutions measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Other amounts owed to credit institutions totalled €89.2 billion, 14.7% more 
than at the end of 2004. 
 
Securities issued other than those measured at fair value through profit or 
loss totalled €51.4 billion, of which the majority, €36.5 billion, consisted of 
interbank securities and negotiable debt securities, followed by bonds at 
€13.9 billion. The remainder consisted of certificates of deposit and other 
securities. 
 
Customer deposits reported on the liabilities side of the balance sheet, 
including accrued interest, consist of customer deposits in the form of 
savings for accounting purposes. These deposits increased by 6.3% during 
the year to reach €56.9 billion at the end of 2005. CIC alone contributed 
€55.1 billion to this amount. 
 
Technical provisions of insurance companies, representing obligations to 
policyholders, totalled €37.8 billion with most of this amount (€32.6 billion) 
consisting of customer savings managed by the life insurance companies of 
Groupe Assurance du Crédit Mutuel (GACM).  
 
Minority interests reported in liabilities on the balance sheet amounted to 
€1.2 billion at 31 December 2005 and consisted primarily of the 23.5% 
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interest in GACM held by other Crédit Mutuel affiliates and the 7.1% interest 
in CIC held by outside shareholders.

 
On the assets side of the balance sheet, interbank transactions increased by 
€15.1 billion during the year to €84 billion. Loans and advances to customers 
amounted to €83.2 billion and consisted primarily of loans granted by CIC 
entities, which made a net contribution to this item of €75.5 billion. 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss totalled 
€68.7 billion compared with €61.3 billion at the end of 2004, an increase of 
12.1%. 
 
The assets include goodwill of €598 million relating mainly to the purchase 
of CIC shares on which residual goodwill totalled €517 million. 
 
Thanks to an increase in the retail banking and insurance divisions' net 
banking income and the lower cost of risk, BFCM's consolidated net profit for 
2005 under IFRS increased by 20.4% to €1,093 million. 
 
BFCM's net banking income amounted to €4.4 billion, an increase of 3.2%, 
despite the losses incurred on structured products which trimmed €484 
million from net banking income in the first half and €30 million in the 
second half, for a full-year reduction of €514 million.  
 
The retail banking division's net banking income increased by 3.8% from 
€2,654.6 million to €2,756.5 million during the year, resulting in net profit 
growth of 43.4%. 
 
The insurance division's net banking income increased by €123.8 million to 
€754.1 million. 
 
The investment banking division's net banking income fell from €647.7 
million to €345 million due essentially to transferring the risks on the 
securities in the structured products portfolio.  
 
General operating expenses increased by 4.8% and the cost of risk declined 
by 52% to €104 million. 
 
Pre-tax profit on ordinary activities for the year was up by 10.6% to 
€1,440 million. 
 
The group share of consolidated net profit amounted to €944 million 
compared with €791 million in 2004, representing an increase of 19.5%.  
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FINANCIAL DATA RELATING TO THE INDIVIDUAL COMPANY FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF BANQUE FÉDÉRATIVE DU CRÉDIT MUTUEL 
 

Balance sheet 
 
At 31 December 2005, total assets amounted to €95.4 billion, 31% more than 
at the end of 2004. 
 
On the liabilities side of the balance sheet, amounts owed to credit 
institutions included deposits gathered by the Crédit Mutuel Banks in the 
Centre Est Europe, Sud-Est and Ile-de-France Federations via Caisse 
Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CFCMCEE) totalling €32.1 
billion (up by 4% compared with the end of 2004). 
 
Customer deposits amounted to €553.4 million, and comprised €46.4 million 
in demand deposits and €507 million in term deposits and borrowings from 
customers.  
 
Total resources in the form of securities amounted to €32 billion, comprising 
interbank securities and negotiable debt securities for €18.3 billion plus 
bonds for €13.7 billion. 
 
The fund for general banking risks was stable compared with the end of 
2004 at €61.6 million. In 2005, BFCM issued another €850 million in super-
subordinated securities to bring the total to €1.6 billion. Total shareholders' 
equity and similar funds thus amounted to €4.3 billion excluding the net 
profit for the year.  
 
On the assets side of the balance sheet, BFCM's role as treasurer for the CEE 
group is reflected notably in its balances of €80.5 billion with credit 
institutions. A large portion of this amount, €33.5 billion, consisted of 
refinancing provided to CFCMCEE to fund loans distributed by Crédit Mutuel 
Banks. Another €12.5 billion was used to refinance the specific needs of 
CFCMCEE. Lastly, BFCM's refinancing activity also extended to Banque de 
l'Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique (BECM) and various CIC 
entities. 
 
Loans and advances to customers, primarily large companies, amounted to 
€2.1 billion. 
 
The other uses of funds were for the securities in BFCM's trading, available-
for-sale and held-to-maturity portfolios. 
 
Shares in related undertakings amounted to €3.6 billion, the majority being 
invested in CIC (€2.5 billion) and Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(€435 million). 
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Profit and loss account 
 
Interest and similar income amounted to €4.7 billion, with €4.3 billion of 
this total arising on transactions with credit institutions. 
 
Interest and similar charges amounted to €4.6 billion, with €3.6 billion of 
this total relating to credit institutions and €0.9 billion to securities issued. 
 
Most of the income from shares (€156.4 million) came from dividends paid 
by CIC (€94.2 million), Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel (€19.7 
million), Banque de Luxembourg (€17.2 million) and BECM (€10 million). 
 
After factoring in fees and commissions and other operating items, net 
banking income for the year came to €245 million, compared with €269 
million in 2004. 
 
General operating expenses were broadly unchanged at €20.6 million. 
 
Various disposals of participating interests and write-backs of provisions 
resulted in a net gain on fixed assets of €112 million. 
 
In addition, non-deductible company car lease payments and depreciation 
charges of €5,906 were added back to income taxable at the statutory rate. 
 
Lastly, net income for the year, stated after income tax charges of €48.5 
million, amounted to €286.8 million compared with €216.2 million in 2004, 
an increase of 32.7%. 
 
 

Proposals submitted to the Annual General Meeting 
 
 
The appropriations proposed to the Annual General Meeting concern the 
following amounts (in €): 
 

Profit for 2005 286,803,372.
01 

Un-appropriated losses brought 
forward 

(855,974.07) 

Total 285,947,397.
94 
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We further propose: 

 
- paying a dividend of €5.32 per share for each of the 26,043,845 

shares comprising the share capital, for a total dividend payout of 
€138,553,255.40, eligible for the 50% tax reduction provided for in 
Article 158 of the French General Tax Code (Code Général des 
impôts); 

 
- transferring €15,000,000.00 to the legal reserve; 

 
- transferring €130,000,000.00 to the general reserve; 

 
- carrying forward the balance of €2,394,142.54.  

 
In accordance with current legal requirements, the following table 
summarises the dividends per share paid with respect to the three previous 
years: 

 
 

Year 2002 2003 2004

Dividend (€) 3,10 3,53 4,20

Tax credit (€) 1,55 1,77 -

Dividend eligible for the 
reduction provided for in 
Article 158 of the French 
General Tax Code

- - yes

 
The Board of Directors 

 

 - 22 -



 
 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

BFCM IFRS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005 
 
 
 
 
 

-  Balance sheet 
 
-  Profit and loss account 
 
-  Cash flow statement 
 
-  Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 
 
-  Notes to the financial statements 

 - 23 -



 

 
 

 - 24 -



 - 25 -



 
 
 
 

 - 26 -



 
 

 - 27 -



 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

1.  LEGAL AND FINANCIAL BACKGROUND 
 
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM) is a subsidiary of Caisse Fédérale du Crédit 
Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CFCMCEE), itself an interdepartmental bank (caisse 
interdépartementale) as defined in paragraph 4 of Article L512-55 of the Monetary and 
Financial Code (Code Monétaire et Financier) acting as the by-laws of Crédit Mutuel. 
Accordingly, BFCM is included in the consolidation scope used for the preparation of Crédit 
Mutuel Centre Est Europe’s consolidated accounts. 
 
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel issues securities that are admitted for trading on an 
organised bond market. It is therefore required to prepare separate consolidated accounts, 
notwithstanding its inclusion in the consolidation scope of Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe. 
 
Pursuant to EU Regulation 1606/2002 concerning the application of international accounting 
standards, the consolidated financial statements of the BFCM group for the year ended 
31 December 2005 are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union at that date. 
 
The IFRS applied for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include all 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and IFRS 1 to 5, their interpretations adopted by 
the European Union and the amendment of IAS 39 of June 2005 regarding the use of the fair 
value option not yet adopted by the European Union. 
 
The 2004 reported consolidated financial statements were prepared under French 
accounting standards. The 2004 “IFRS excluding 32-39” consolidated financial statements 
presented with the 2005 consolidated financial statements were prepared under 2004 IFRS, 
which do not include IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4. The latter have been applied effective 
1st January 2005 as allowed by IFRS 1. 
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Note 1.1 IMPACT OF FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION 
 

The first-time adoption of IFRS was carried out in compliance with IFRS 1 - First-time 
adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. This standard provides for a 
retrospective application, with adjustment of the opening shareholders’ equity balance at 
1st January 2004 for the changes in accounting methods, with all mandatory or optional 
exceptions. When options were provided, the following accounting methods were applied: 

 
 Business combinations: no business combinations prior to 1st January 2004 have been 

restated. 
 
 Property, plant and equipment: reported at cost. The option of revaluing these assets 

at their fair value was not used. 
 
 Translation differences: as allowed by IFRS 1, these were zeroed out at 1st January 

2004 as an offset to consolidated reserves. 
  
 IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 were applied with effect from 1st January 2005 without 

restatement of the 2004 financial statements, and notably that of the opening balance 
sheet at 1st January 2004. Reclassifications and changes in valuation were carried out 
on the opening balance sheet at 1st January 2005. 

 
 The hedge accounting described in IAS 39 and modified by the European Union has been 

applied prospectively with effect from 1st January 2005. Those hedging relationships 
described in the French accounting standards but which are not accepted under IFRS or 
for which it was decided not to reflect this hedging are reported in the opening balance 
sheet as assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Those whose hedging 
relationship is accepted under IFRS or that the Group was able to allocate to identified 
assets or liabilities (transactions previously qualified as macro hedges) were recognised 
as such in the opening IFRS balance sheet.  

 
 Financial products traded on an inactive market whose valuation is based on internal 

models and unobservable factors: the restatement of the margins generated during the 
trading of such products is retrospective for structured products. The reporting of this 
margin in profit or loss is dependent upon the type of structured product. 

 
 Private equity securities: all securities are measured on a market value basis. They are 

marked-to-market through profit or loss. 
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Note 1.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING METHODS 
 
In accordance with French accounting principles (laid down by the CNC), as with the IFRS 
principles, changes in accounting methods are applied retroactively in both company and 
consolidated financial statements, i.e. as if the new principles had always been applied. 
The impact of first-time adoption is reflected in shareholders’ equity at 1st January, i.e. as 
an adjustment to the opening balance sheet. As an exception to this rule, IFRS 1 authorises 
the first-time adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 (financial instruments) and IFRS 4 (insurance 
contracts) from 1st January 2005 onwards without the need to restate the 2004 financial 
statements. 
 
IMPACT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
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Note: the impact amounts are stated before tax. The tax effect due solely to these 
changes in accounting methods is shown in a separate line.  
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Reminder of the changes in accounting methods described in the interim financial 
statements for the 6 months ended 30 June 2005 
 
Overall, the first-time adoption had a positive impact of €166 million at 1st January 2005 
and €635 million at 1st January 2004, i.e. a total increase of €801 million. 
 
 In the interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2005, a total positive 
impact of €918 million was reported. The negative variance of €117 million is not material 
compared with the shareholders’ equity at 1st January 2005 of €6,607 million. There are 
several reasons for this variance: 
 
• Fees and commissions, individual loan impairment provisions, collective loan 

impairment provisions, provisions for commitment risks on accounts and housing 
savings plans: the calculation methods were refined at 31 December, resulting in a 
minor adjustment to the first-time adoption figures. 

• Private equity securities were recognised at fair value through profit or loss at 
31 December 2005, whereas at 30 June 2005, securities representing holdings of less 
than 20% were recognised as securities available for sale. Hence the impact of first-
time adoption was reclassified within shareholders’ equity between “unrealised or 
deferred gains or losses” on financial assets available for sale and consolidated 
reserves. 

• A deferred tax liability was recognised on the capitalisation reserve for insurance 
companies. 

• Final adjustments to financial instruments were smaller than those originally made. 
• The negative impact of first-time adoption on pension obligations of €6 million 

corresponds to a revised presentation. 
 

Note 1.3 TRANSITION FROM FRENCH GAAP TO IFRS 
 
The summary documents under IFRS are prepared by applying the presentation described in 
CNC standard 2004-R.03. To facilitate comparison of the IFRS profit and loss account, the 
profit and loss accounts for the period ended 31 December 2004 under IFRS (excluding IAS 
32-39) are also presented in IFRS format. In the 2004 summary documents presented in 
accordance with 2004 IFRS: 
 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss include only those financial 

instruments in the trading portfolio.  
 financial assets available for sale include securities available for sale, private equity 

portfolio securities, investments in subsidiaries and in associates and all other long-
term investment securities. In 2004, these instruments were still recognised in 
accordance with French GAAP prevailing at 31 December 2004. 

 
Principal restatements made in 2004 to the profit and loss account 
 Depreciation of buildings by component and non amortisation of leasehold rights 
 Impact of deferred taxes 
 Spreading of the lease-back gains over the life of the lease-back contract, net of tax 

effect 
 Non amortisation of goodwill 

 
Principal reclassifications made to the 2004 profit and loss account  
 Reclassification of dividends on equities and other variable-yield securities and 

grouping of all other operating income and charges from banking activities, as well as 
the gross profit from all insurance activities 

 Reclassification of the gains or losses on disposals of securities that are classified as 
long-term investments under French accounting standards and as assets available for 
sale under IFRS into net income from financial transactions 

 Reclassification of dividends from transactions involving the lending and borrowing of 
securities into net income from financial transactions  

 Reclassification of the amortisation of premiums on debt securities from income to 
charges 
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Note 1.4 PREPARATION OF THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 
The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method. To determine net cash 
flows from operating activities, net profit is adjusted to take account of the impact of non-
cash items and items for which the cash impact consists of cash flows from investing or 
financing activities. 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined in accordance with their intrinsic characteristics, 
which are their immediate availability or convertibility in the very short term into a known 
amount of cash whose value is not likely to change materially. 
 
Cash includes the cash on hand and deposits and borrowings with the Central Bank and the 
post office accounts authority. Cash equivalents comprise sight or overnight loans and 
borrowings entered into with credit institutions. 
 
The various cash flows relative to a period are classified by purpose as arising from 
operating, investing or financing activities, although any one transaction may include cash 
flows classified in more than one type of activity. 
 
Operating cash flows are those arising from operating activities that contribute to the bulk 
of net profit, including proprietary trading activities. Included as such among operating 
activities are all cash flows related to securities at fair value through profit or loss and to 
equities and other variable-yield securities, consisting of short-term investments or 
investments relative to portfolio activities, and fixed-income securities available for sale.  
 
The cash flows from other transactions affecting financial assets or liabilities include 
changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. By 
default, all cash flows that do not qualify as arising from investing or financing activities 
are classified under this activity. 
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Investing activities are defined as the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other 
investments not included in cash equivalents or operating activities. These include notably 
all investments in associates and other variable-yield securities held long-term not related 
to portfolio activities and all fixed-income securities held to maturity. 
 
Cash flows from financing activities include changes in capital and movements related to 
the issue or repayment of borrowings or subordinated debt. By choice, interbank and other 
negotiable debt securities are classified under operating activities. 
 
Revenues (interest and dividends) from investing activities and interest from financing 
activities, insofar as they do not represent resources allocated to the activities generating 
them, are allocated to operating activities. Pre-tax gains and losses on disposals continue 
to be allocated to their underlying activities. 
 
 

Note 1.5 PRO FORMA IFRS BALANCE SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT AT 
31 DECEMBER 2004 
 
These documents are presented with the valuations calculated in accordance with 2004 
IFRS (excluding IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4) and with the CNC presentation used for the 
publication of the 2004 financial statements. 
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2.  CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 
 

Note 2.1 DEFINITION OF THE CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 
 
The consolidation scope includes: 
 
- Companies controlled exclusively, for which the consolidating entity is in a position to 

direct their financial and operational policies; 
- Companies controlled jointly, for which control is shared between a limited number of 

shareholders; 
- Companies over which significant influence is exercised, which are not controlled by 

the consolidating entity but in whose financial and operational policies it participates. 
 
The accounts of companies controlled exclusively are fully consolidated. Exclusive control 
is presumed when the Group owns, directly or indirectly, a majority holding in the capital 
and either the majority of the voting rights or the power to appoint the majority of the 
members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies when the Group 
exercises dominant influence. 
 
A special-purpose entity is consolidated when the conditions defined in SIC12 (the entity’s 
activities are carried out exclusively on the Group’s behalf, the Group has decision-making 
or management power to obtain the majority of the benefits deriving from the entity’s 
ordinary activities and the capacity to profit from the entity’s benefits, and retains the 
majority of the risks) are met. 
 
The securities of companies over which the Group exercises significant influence, through a 
direct or indirect holding of at least 20% of the voting rights, are accounted for using the 
equity method. Holdings of between 20% and 50% belonging to private equity companies are 
excluded from the consolidation scope and are recognised at fair value through profit or 
loss by option. 
 
Companies controlled by the consolidating entity or over which it exercises significant 
influence, but which are not material in relation to the consolidated accounts, are 
excluded from the consolidation scope. This is presumed to be the case when the 
company’s total assets or net profit represent less than 1% of the corresponding lines at 
group level (or sub-group level, in the case of a consolidation in stages). This quantitative 
criterion is relative. An entity may be included in the consolidation scope even though it is 
not material, when the investment is considered to be of strategic interest by virtue of the 
entity’s activities or its expected development. 
 
Changes in the consolidation scope for the year ended 31 December 2005 were: 
 
• First-time consolidation of Banque de Tunisie (20%-owned by CIC), Atout Assurance (a 

Luxembourg limited company [société anonyme] that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Banque du Luxembourg), Banque Transatlantique Belgium (a wholly-owned subsidiary), 
the Luxembourg entities Cigogne Management and Cigogne Fund, and several entities 
holding securities;  

• Merger of CIC Développement with EID, merger of SCI du Champ de Mars with CIO, 
merger of UBR with CIC, and merger of the following companies into ACM Retraite: SCI 
Bastille, SCI Berger, SCI Brant, SCI Le Discover, SCI Gaia Sophia, SCI Green, SCI Lille, SCI 
Pelletan Camil, SCI Port Nogen, SCI Rouget de Lisle, SNC Bruyère, and SNC Mathurins; 

• First-time consolidation of EID using the equity method following the merger of CIC 
Développement with EID; 

• Deconsolidation of Compagnie de Finance pour l’Industrie (CFI) due to it having ceased 
business. 
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Note 2.2 CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 

 
 

 - 40 -



 

 - 41 -



3.  ACCOUNTING METHODS 
 
All International Financial Reporting Standards have been applied with effect from 
1st January 2004, other than IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 which have been applied with effect 
from 1st January 2005.  
 
The summary documents under IFRS are presented in accordance with CNC Standard 2004-
R.03. 
 
 
 

Note 3.1  SECURITIES ACQUIRED 
 
IAS 39 defines three categories of securities: 

- financial assets held to maturity 
- financial assets available for sale 
- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 
Financial assets held to maturity 
 
Classification  
Financial assets held to maturity are fixed-income or determinable-yield financial assets 
that must be listed on an active market and that the Group has the intention and the ability 
to hold until maturity and has decided not to classify as financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss or as financial instruments available for sale. The criteria concerning 
intention and ability to hold the securities until maturity are verified at each period end. 

 
Valuation basis and recognition of income and charges 
These securities are recorded upon acquisition at their fair value. Transaction costs are 
spread as they are incorporated in the calculation of the effective interest rate, except 
when they are not material in which case they are recorded in the profit and loss account 
at the outset. At subsequent period ends, these securities are measured at their amortised 
cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method, which includes amortisation of 
all premiums and discounts, corresponding to the difference between the acquisition and 
redemption values of these securities. 
 
Income received from these securities is presented under “Interest and similar income” in 
the profit and loss account. 
 
Measurement and recognition of impairment for credit risk 
Impairment of financial assets held to maturity is recognised in the same manner as for 
loans and receivables when their value is affected by a credit risk. 
 
 
Financial assets available for sale 
 
Classification  
Financial assets available for sale include financial assets not classified in loans and 
receivables or in financial assets held to maturity or at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Valuation basis and recognition of income and charges 
These assets are recognised on the balance sheet at their market value when they are 
acquired and at subsequent period ends until such time as they are disposed of. Changes in 
fair value are recorded under a specific shareholders’ equity heading entitled “Unrealised 
or deferred gains or losses.” These unrealised gains or losses recognised in shareholders’ 
equity are recognised in the profit and loss account only when the assets are disposed of or 
when evidence of permanent impairment is observed. 
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Income accrued or received on fixed-income securities is recognised in profit or loss in 
accordance with the effective interest rate method in “Interest and similar income”. 
Dividends received on variable-yield securities are recorded in profit and loss under “Net 
gains or losses on financial assets available for sale”.  
 
Impairment of financial assets available for sale 
Impairment is recognised on financial assets available for sale in the event of a prolonged 
and/or material decline in fair value relative to cost. Losses for permanent impairment of 
“Equities and other variable-yield securities” available for sale recorded in profit or loss 
are irreversible as long as the instrument is carried on the balance sheet. They are 
recognised in “Net gains or losses on financial assets available for sale”.  
 
Losses for permanent impairment of “Bonds and other fixed-income securities” available 
for sale are reversible and are recognised under “Cost of risk” when they concern credit 
risk.  

 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Classification 
The category “Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss” includes:  
 

a) Financial instruments held for trading purposes. These concern primarily 
instruments which:  
a. were acquired to be resold or repurchased in the short-term, or which  
b. are incorporated in a portfolio of financial instruments managed on an overall 

basis for which there exists an effective and recent schedule for the taking of 
short-term gains, or which  

c. constitute an unqualified derivative hedging instrument;  
 

b) Financial instruments classified by choice from the outset at fair value through 
profit or loss pursuant to the option provided by IAS 39, the conditions of 
application of which were specified by the amendment published in June 2005. The 
application of the fair value option is intended to produce more pertinent financial 
information, with notably: 
a. the measurement at fair value of certain composite financial instruments 

without separation of any embedded derivatives for which a separate valuation 
would not have been sufficiently accurate; 

b. a significant reduction of distortions of accounting methods between certain 
assets and liabilities; 

c. the management and tracking of the performances of a group of assets and/or 
liabilities constituted as part of a risk management or investment strategy is 
carried out at fair value. In particular, this category includes private equity 
securities and balance sheet items relating to market activities. 

 
Valuation basis and recognition of income and charges 
The instruments classified in this category are recognised on the balance sheet at their fair 
value when they are first recorded and at all subsequent period ends until such time as 
they are disposed of. Changes in fair value are recorded in the profit and loss account 
under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. 
Revenues received or accrued on fixed-income securities classified in this category are 
presented under “Interest and similar income” in the profit and loss account. Purchases and 
sales of securities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on the 
settlement date. Changes in fair value occurring between the transaction and settlement 
dates are recognised in profit or loss. The valuation of the counterparty risk on these 
securities is taken into account in the fair value.  
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Fair value or market value 
Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged or a liability extinguished, 
between informed and consenting parties, acting under normal competitive conditions. 
When an instrument is first recognised its fair value is generally the transaction price. If a 
financial instrument is listed on an active market, the fair value is the listed price or 
market value, as this is the best estimate of its fair value. The listed price of an asset held 
or a liability to be issued is generally the proposed selling price (bid), while the proposed 
purchase price (ask) is used for liabilities held or assets to be acquired. 
 
In the event of equal and opposite asset and liability positions, only the net position is 
valued: this is calculated on the basis of the bid price if it involves a net asset or net 
liability to be issued and on the basis of the ask price if it involves a net liability or net 
asset to be acquired. 
 
A market is said to be active when listed prices are easily and frequently available and 
these prices represent actual and regularly occurring transactions under normal 
competitive conditions for highly similar financial instruments. When a market is not 
active, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 
 
Derivative products are measured using data observable in the market (e.g. yield curves). 
The notion of bid/ask must then be applied to these observable data. For private equity 
securities, a multi-criteria approach is used, supplemented by experience in valuing 
unlisted companies. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - derivatives  
A derivative is a financial instrument: 
a) whose fair value depends on interest rates, the price of a financial instrument, the 

price of a commodity, exchange rates, an index of interest rate or credit prices, or 
any other variable referred to as an underlying; 

b) that requires a low net investment, or none, or one that is lower than for a non 
derivative financial instrument in order to obtain the same sensitivity to changes in 
the underlying; 

c) that is unwound at a future date. 
 
Derivatives are classified among financial instruments held for trading purposes, except 
when they are part of a hedging relationship. They are recognised at their fair value on the 
balance sheet among financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in 
fair value and interest accrued or due are recognised in net gains and losses on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Those hedging derivatives that meet the criteria required by IAS 39 to be qualified from an 
accounting standpoint as hedging instruments are classified in the categories “Fair value 
hedges” or “Cash flow hedges” as appropriate. All other derivatives are, by default, 
classified as trading assets or liabilities, even if from an economic standpoint they were 
entered into in order to hedge one or more risks. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
A derivative embedded into a host contract must be recognised separately when its 
economic characteristics and the associated risks are not closely related to those of the 
host contract. When the host contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
the embedded derivative or derivatives is or are detached from the host contract and 
recognised separately as a derivative instrument. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - derivatives - structured 
products 
Structured products are financial structures offered to customers to more closely meet 
their specific needs. They are constructed using standard products, generally options. 
There are different types of categories of structured products based on the following 
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standard products: traditional options, binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look-
back options, options on several assets, and index swaps. 
 
There are three main types of method for valuing such products: methods based on solving 
a partial differential equation, methods employing arborescence over discrete intervals and 
Monte-Carlo methods. The first and last methods are used. The analytical methods applied 
are those used by the market to model the underlyings used.  
 
The valuation parameters used are those observed or deduced via a standard model of the 
values observed at the period end. In the event that no organised market exists, the values 
used are obtained from the most active intermediaries in the corresponding products 
and/or extrapolated from listed values. A historical record is maintained of all parameters 
used. Non-listed forward financial instruments are valued using observable market prices, 
in accordance with the so-called “snapshot” procedure. The latter method consists of 
obtaining the bid and ask prices each day at the same time from several market players 
using computerised market data applications. A single price is retained for each useful 
market parameter. 
 
Certain complex financial instruments, and primarily mono- and multi-underlying barrier-
structured equity products, generally custom-built, relatively illiquid and with long 
maturities, are valued using in-house models and valuation factors such as long volatilities, 
correlations, and estimates of dividends for that portion unobservable in active markets. 
When first recognised, these complex instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at the 
transaction price, which is considered to be the best indication of their market value even 
though the valuation generated by the models may be different. This difference between 
the traded price of the complex instrument and the value obtained using the in-house 
model, generally a gain, is called the “Day one profit and loss.” Accounting regulations 
prohibit the recognition of profits made on products valued using models and factors not 
observable in active markets, and they are thus deferred over time. When this concerns 
mono-underlying non-barrier products, the margin is spread over the life of the instrument. 
On products incorporating barrier options, given the specific risks related to the 
management of these barriers, the profit is recognised upon the maturity of the structured 
product. 

Hedge accounting 
IAS 39 provides for three forms of hedging relationships. The choice of the hedging 
relationship is made based on the nature of the risk that is hedged. Fair value hedges 
provide hedging of exposure to changes in the fair value of financial assets or liabilities, 
and are used notably to hedge the interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities as 
well as demand deposits in the context of the options provided under European Union 
regulations. Cash flow hedges are used to hedge exposure to changes in the cash flows of 
financial assets or liabilities, firm commitments and futures transactions. They are used 
notably to hedge interest rate risk on variable-rate assets and liabilities, including their 
renewal, and foreign exchange risk on highly probable future revenues denominated in 
foreign currencies. One specific example of cash flow hedges is the hedging of net 
investments denominated in foreign currencies. 
 
The Group documents the relationship between the instrument covered and the hedging 
instrument right from the moment the hedging relationship is set in place. This 
documentation includes the management objectives of the hedging relationship, the nature 
of the risk hedged, the underlying strategy, identification of the hedging instrument and of 
the item hedged, and the methods used to measure the effectiveness of the hedging. 
 
The Group evaluates this effectiveness when the hedging relationship is set in place, and 
subsequently throughout its life, at the very least at each period end. The ineffective 
portion of the hedge is recognised in the profit and loss account in “Net gains or losses on 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. 
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Fair value hedges 
That portion corresponding to the rediscounting of the derivative financial instrument is 
recognised in the profit and loss account in “Interest income and charges – Hedging 
derivatives” symmetrically to the interest income or charges for the item hedged. 
 
In the case of a fair value hedge, derivatives are measured at their fair value as an offset to 
the profit and loss account in “Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss” symmetrically to the revaluation of the risk of the items hedged in 
profit or loss. This rule is also applied if the item hedged is recognised at its amortised cost 
or in the case of a financial asset classified as available for sale. If the hedging relationship 
is perfectly effective, the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument offsets that of 
the item hedged. 
 
The hedging relationship must be considered to be “highly effective” to qualify for hedge 
accounting. The change in the fair value or cash flow hedge must nearly offset the change 
in the value of the item whose fair value or cash flows are hedged. The ratio of these two 
changes must fall within the range of 80% to 125%. 
 
If necessary, hedge accounting ceases to be applied on a prospective basis. In the event 
that the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are not respected, 
hedge accounting ceases to be applied on a prospective basis. The hedging derivatives are 
transferred to trading instruments and are recognised in accordance with the principles 
applicable to this category. The value on the balance sheet of the item hedged is 
subsequently no longer adjusted to reflect changes in fair value and the cumulative 
adjustments for the recognition of the hedge are amortised over the remaining life of the 
item hedged. If the items hedged are no longer recognised on the balance sheet due 
notably to early repayments, the cumulative adjustments are recognised immediately in 
the profit and loss account. 

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk by portfolio  
This hedging relationship is used to hedge structural interest rate risk in total. The 
modifications made by the European Union to IAS 39 in October 2004 enable customer 
demand deposits to be included within portfolios of fixed-rate liabilities.  
 
For each portfolio of assets or liabilities, the maturity schedule of the hedging derivatives is 
compared to the maturity schedule of the items hedged to ensure that there is no over-
hedging; this is to be established by maturity range at each period end.  
 
The fixed-rate liability portfolio may include customer demand deposits, with maturities 
based on the run-off assumptions defined by the asset-liability management unit. 
 
Changes in the fair value of the interest rate risk of portfolios of hedged instruments are 
recorded in a specific line of the balance sheet “Revaluation difference on portfolios 
hedged against interest rate risk” as an offset to the profit and loss account. 

Cash flow hedges 
In the case of cash flow hedging relationships, gains or losses on hedging instruments 
considered effective are recorded in a specific line of shareholders’ equity called 
“Unrealised or deferred gains or losses on cash flow hedges” while that portion considered 
ineffective is recorded in the profit and loss account in “Net gains or losses on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.  
 
Amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity are recovered through profit or loss in “Interest 
income and charges” symmetrically to the flows of the item hedged that impact the profit 
and loss account. The items hedged continue to be recognised in accordance with the rules 
specific to their accounting category. 
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In the event that the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are 
not respected, hedge accounting ceases to be applied. The cumulative amounts recorded in 
shareholders’ equity for the revaluation of the hedging derivative are maintained in 
shareholders’ equity until such time as the hedged transaction itself impacts the profit and 
loss account or when it is determined that the transaction will not take place. These 
amounts are then transferred to profit or loss.  
 

 
Note 3.2 REGULATED SAVINGS CONTRACTS 

 
Home Savings Accounts (Comptes Epargne Logement - CEL) and Programmes (Plans Epargne 
Logement - PEL) are French regulated products available to individual customers. These 
products provide retail investors with interest-bearing savings vehicles during a first phase, 
and grant them access to a mortgage during a second phase. These CEL and PEL generate 
two kinds of commitments for the establishments that distribute them: 

• a future fixed-rate interest commitment on the remuneration of the savings (solely 
on the PEL, as the interest rate on the CEL is comparable to a variable rate and is 
periodically revised in accordance with an indexation formula); 

• a commitment to extend a loan based on predetermined conditions to those 
customers requesting one (on both PEL and CEL). 
These commitments were estimated on the basis of customer behavioural statistics and 
market data. A provision is set aside on the liability side of the balance sheet to cover the 
future charges related to the potentially disadvantageous conditions of these products in 
comparison with the interest rates offered to individual customers for products that are 
similar but whose conditions of remuneration are not regulated. This approach is carried 
out by homogeneous generation in terms of the regulated conditions for PEL and CEL. The 
impact on earnings is recorded along with interest paid to customers.  

 
 

Note 3.3  DEBT SECURITIES 
 

Debt securities are recognised at their fair value (generally the net amount received) when 
first recorded on the balance sheet, and are measured at subsequent period ends at their 
amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method.  
 
Certain “structured” debt instruments may include embedded derivatives. The embedded 
derivatives are broken out from the host contracts when the criteria for separation are met 
and when they can be measured accurately. The host contract is subsequently recognised 
at its amortised cost. Fair values are calculated on the basis of listed market prices or 
valuation models.  
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Note 3.4 VALUATIONS OF RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are fixed- or determinable-income financial assets not listed on an 
active market. They include loans granted directly or the bank’s share of syndicated loans, 
loans acquired and non-listed debt securities. When first recorded on the balance sheet 
they are recognised at their market value, which is generally the net amount disbursed, 
and at subsequent period ends, they are valued at their amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
All commissions received or paid relating directly to the setting in place of the loan and 
resembling interest are spread over the life of the loan in accordance with the effective 
interest rate method and are recorded in the profit and loss account among interest items. 

Provisions for impairment of loans and receivables, loan commitments and guarantee 
obligations 
 
Provision for impairment of loans 
Impairment is recognised once there is objective evidence of the existence of an event 
occurring subsequent to the loan – or group of loans – being set in place that is likely to 
generate a loss. An analysis is performed on a contract-by-contract basis at each period 
end. The amount of impairment is equal to the difference between the carrying value and 
the present value of the projected future cash flows discounted at the original interest rate 
on the loan. With variable rate loans, the last contractual rate known is used.  
 
The existence of maturities overdue for more than 3 months, 6 months for mortgages and 9 
months for local governments represents objective proof of a loss event. Similarly, an 
objective indication of loss is identified when it is probable that the debtor will not be able 
to repay all the amounts due or when a default event has taken place or in the event of a 
court-ordered liquidation. 
 
Impairment is recognised in the form of a provision, and all corresponding charges and 
recoveries are reflected in the cost of risk with the exception of the impact of the passage 
of time associated with the discounting mechanism, which is recognised as interest income 
within net banking income. The provision is deducted from the asset for the impairment of 
loans and as a liability among provisions for risks on loan commitments and guarantee 
obligations. 

Collective loan provisions 
All loans to customers not written down for impairment on an individual basis are subjected 
to risk analysis by homogeneous portfolios of loans, on the basis of the observed erosion of 
internal or external ratings, the probability of default to maturity, the loss rate and the 
level of loan outstandings.  

 
 
Note 3.5 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

 
Assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the local currency are 
translated at the exchange rate ruling at the period end. Monetary financial assets or 
liabilities: foreign exchange gains or losses arising from these translations are recognised in 
the profit and loss account under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss”.  
 
Non-monetary financial assets or liabilities: foreign exchange gains or losses arising from 
these translations are recognised in the profit and loss account under “Net gains or losses 
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” if the item is classified under 
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fair value through profit or loss, or under “Unrealised or deferred gains or losses” if the 
item is classified under financial assets available for sale. 
 
When consolidated securities denominated in a foreign currency are funded by a borrowing 
in that same foreign currency, the future cash flows of the latter are hedged. 
 

Note 3.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Non-current assets reported on the balance sheet include property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets used in operations and investment properties. Operating non-current 
assets are used for the production of services or for administrative purposes. They include 
all assets other than real property held for rent to third parties. Investment properties are 
real property held for rental income and to generate gains on the invested capital. The 
historical cost method is used to account for both investment and operating properties. 
 
Non-current assets are recognised at cost plus all directly allocatable charges required to 
put them in working order with a view to being used. Finance charges incurred during the 
construction or transformation of real assets are not capitalised. 
 
After they are first recorded on the balance sheet, non-current assets are measured at 
their amortised historical cost, i.e. their cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortisation and any impairment. 
 
The depreciable or amortisable value of a non-current asset is determined after deducting 
its residual value net of disposal costs. As the useful life of non-current assets is generally 
equal to their expected economic life, residual values are not recognised.  
 
Non-current assets are depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life during which they will generate economic benefits. Non-current assets with an 
indefinite useful life are not amortised. Depreciation and amortisation charges are 
recognised under “Depreciation, amortisation and impairment provisions” in the profit and 
loss account. 
 
When a non-current asset comprises several components likely to be replaced at regular 
intervals, with different uses or providing economic benefits over differing lengths of time, 
each component is recognised separately from the outset and is depreciated in accordance 
with its own schedule. The component approach has been selected for both operating and 
investment properties. 
 
The following depreciable lives are used for buildings: 

- 40-80 years for shells 
- 15-30 years for enclosures and roofing 
- 10-25 years for equipment 
- 10 years for fixtures and fittings. 

 
For intangible assets, lease rights paid are not amortised but instead are tested for 
impairment. Entry rights paid to owners are amortised over the term of the lease as an 
additional rental payment and other items comprising business goodwill are amortised over 
10 years (acquisition of customer contract portfolios). 
 
Depreciable non-current assets are tested for impairment at each period end when 
evidence of loss of value is identified. Non-depreciable non-current assets are tested for 
impairment once each year. 
 
If evidence of impairment is found, the asset’s recoverable value is compared to its net 
carrying value. In the event of a loss of value, impairment is recognised in the profit and 
loss account, thus modifying the asset’s depreciable base going forward. Impairment losses 
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are reversed to reflect improvements in the estimate of the asset’s recoverable value or 
should evidence of impairment no longer exist. Impairment is recognised under 
“Depreciation, amortisation and impairment provisions” in the profit and loss account. 
 
Gains or losses on disposals of operating non-current assets are recorded on the line “Net 
gains on other non-current assets” in the profit and loss account. 
  
Gains or losses on disposals of investment properties are recorded in the profit and loss 
account on the lines “Income from other activities” or “Losses on other activities”. 
 

Note 3.7 PROVISIONS AND DISPUTES 
 
Charges to and recoveries of provisions for risks and charges are classified by type under 
the corresponding income and charge items. 
 
A provision is set aside when it is probable that it will be necessary to provide resources 
representing economic benefits to extinguish an obligation arising from a past event and 
when the amount of the obligation can be estimated accurately. The net present value of 
this obligation is calculated to determine the amount of provision to be set aside. 
 
Moreover, the 15 January 2002 decision of the European Commission requesting the 
reimbursement of state aid that was said to have been granted to Crédit Mutuel concerning 
the management of the livret bleu passbook savings programme was voided by a decision of 
the Court of First Instance of the European Community on 18 January 2005. As the European 
Commission has not appealed the decision of the Court of First Instance, the latter has 
voided the fine that had been levied. The BFCM group is not concerned directly by these 
proceedings, which concern its parent company (Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe). 
 

Note 3.8 CAPITALISATION RESERVES AND TECHNICAL PROVISIONS OF INSURANCE 
COMPANIES 
 
Capitalisation reserves are intended to cover any impairment in the value of the assets 
carried by insurance companies or any reduction in their revenues. 
 
In accordance with CRC Standard 2000-05, transfers to and from the capitalisation reserve 
are eliminated on consolidation. When this regulation was applied for the first time, the 
balance of the capitalisation reserve on 1 January 2001 was reclassified under shareholders' 
equity. As this item is covered by IFRS 4, no additional restatement has been performed for 
IFRS. A deferred tax liability of €83.8 million was raised at 31 December 2005 relating to 
the reclassification of the capitalisation reserve in shareholders’ equity. 
 
Technical provisions reflect obligations towards policyholders. They are determined in 
accordance with regulations and generally accepted accounting principles. Technical 
provisions relating to unit-linked policies are determined by reference to the realisable 
value of the assets underlying the policies. 
 
The method recommended by CRC Standard 2000-05 in preference to other acceptable 
methods, which consists in calculating life insurance technical provisions by applying a 
discount rate equal to or lower than the cautiously estimated rate of return expected from 
admissible assets, was not applied by the Group's insurance companies, as it was estimated 
that this would not increase the amount of such provisions. At the same time, provisions for 
financial contingencies and general management provisions were eliminated on 
consolidation. Those provisions for equalisation likely to accrue to policyholders are 
restated as provisions for profit sharing. Those provisions for equalisation set aside to 
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recognise risks of natural disasters and terrorist attacks are maintained in the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
In the event of evidence of impairment, the entire loss recorded in shareholders’ equity at 
the end of the period is transferred into the profit and loss account. No recovery of 
impairment is possible. 
 
Provisions that have been set aside on non-life insurance companies are adequate in the 
light of French regulations. 
 
Provisions that have been set aside on life insurance companies are adequate insofar as the 
inventory of outstanding contracts is concerned. 
 
In compliance with IFRS, the entire capitalisation reserve has been reclassified into 
shareholders’ equity. 
 

Note 3.9 EMPLOYEE PROFIT SHARING AND INCENTIVE SCHEMES 
 
Charges relating to employee profit-sharing and incentive schemes are included on the line 
“Staff costs” in the profit and loss account for the year in which they are incurred. 
  

Note 3.10 PENSION AND OTHER SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS 
 
Pension obligations and similar benefits have been recognised and valued in accordance 
with CNC Standard 2003-R01 since 1st January 2004.  
 
If applicable, a provision is set aside for these obligations and any changes are recognised 
in the profit and loss for the period. The calculation of pension and similar obligations 
assumes a discount rate determined with reference to the long-term market rate paid by 
top-tier credit institutions. The rate of increase of staff costs is measured using a long-term 
estimate of inflation and increases in real wages. 

PENSION SCHEMES 
 
Defined post-employment benefits  
These obligations are calculated in accordance with the projected unit credit method to 
determine the present value of the obligation and the cost of the services rendered during 
the year, on the basis of the aforementioned assumptions. Differences generated by any 
changes in these assumptions and by differences between previous assumptions and actual 
experience give rise to actuarial differences.  
 
When the scheme is funded by assets, the latter are measured at fair value and impact the 
profit and loss account for their expected yield. Differences between actual and expected 
yields give rise to actuarial differences. Actuarial differences are established by scheme 
and deferred, excluding that fraction which, at the end of the preceding year, exceeds 10% 
of the higher of the obligation or the scheme assets at the end of the year. This fraction is 
recognised in the profit and loss account of the year in the form of provisions. Any 
reductions or liquidations of schemes generate a change in the obligation which is 
recognised in the profit and loss account for the year.  
 
Supplemental AFB retirement plans with pension organisations 
Following the professional agreement signed on 13 September 1993, employees of Group 
banks affiliated with the French Bankers’ Association (AFB) joined the national multi-
employer retirement plans operated by ARRCO and AGIRC. Under this agreement, the bank 
remains liable for benefits in excess of those provided by ARRCO and AGIRC. This liability 
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represents the vested rights of retired and serving employees as at 31 December 1993. Full 
provision is made for the bank’s actuarial commitments towards these organisations. The 
coverage of actuarial obligations in respect of benefits is provided by CRPB, which did not 
call any premiums in 2005 as the technical provision exceeded needs. The obligations in 
respect of the CIC’s specific pension schemes for banks are estimated in full every two 
years by an actuary; the last estimate was performed at 31 December 2004. 

End of service indemnities and service awards 
Future end of service indemnities and bonuses to be paid at the time of the attribution of 
service awards are covered in full by insurance contracts or provisions. These commitments 
are calculated in accordance with the projected unit credit method, as required by IFRS. 
Calculations take account of the rates of mortality in the INSEE TV 88-90 table, the rate of 
staff turnover, the rate of increase in salaries, the applicable rate of payroll taxes and the 
discount rate (a market rate determined with reference to the yield on government bonds 
and the actuarial duration of the commitments, i.e. 3.60% in 2005). Commitments 
corresponding to the rights acquired by staff at 31 December 2005 are covered in full by 
the reserves set aside with the insurance company. This being the case, no additional 
payment was called for in 2005. All end of service indemnities and service awards that 
matured and were paid to staff during the year were reimbursed by the insurance company.  

CARMUT 
In addition to the mandatory pension schemes, CEE/SE/IDF group staff also enjoy additional 
benefits paid by Caisse de Pension du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CARMUT), a jointly-
managed pension fund organisation qualified under French law as a supplemental pension 
institution (Institution de Retraite Supplémentaire). CARMUT operates by capitalisation and 
manages two schemes, a defined contribution scheme in points and an additive-type 
defined benefits scheme. All contributions and premiums are paid by the employers. At 
31 December 2005, the special technical provisions recorded for all participants among 
CARMUT’s liabilities amounted respectively to €395.6 million for the defined contribution 
scheme and €50.6 million for the defined benefits scheme. The actuarial valuation of the 
defined benefits scheme is performed by an independent actuarial firm by applying the unit 
cost by year of service method. Commitments under this scheme are covered in exchange 
for an annual premium charged to the employers, equal to 1.70% of total payroll and 
recognised in charges for the year. CARMUT, which is subject to the French Social Security 
Code, was created in the interest of the beneficiaries and is jointly managed. Economic 
benefits accrue solely to the affiliated members, and decision-making power, which is 
shared jointly by representatives of both management and staff, can only be exercised in 
the exclusive interest of the beneficiaries. Consequently, CARMUT is not included in the 
IFRS consolidation scope in the light of the criteria for consolidation defined by IAS 27, 
based essentially on the notion of control or of influence.  
 
EARLY RETIREMENT 
A master agreement on the application in the CIC group of the early retirement measures 
for the banking industry was signed on 27 June 2001.  
 
The CIC and most of the regional banks of the CIC group have set this agreement in place. It 
allows beneficiaries to cease their professional activity two to three years prior to their 
official retirement date while receiving an allocation equal to between 57.5% and 65% of 
their salary. Employees may opt into this programme at any time until 31 March 2006.  
 
The total future charge was estimated for the entire period during which this agreement 
will apply. This charge is provisioned on a straight-line basis from the date the agreement 
came into force (i.e. the date on which it was approved by the Minister of Employment) to 
the date on which the employee may opt for early retirement under the terms of this 
agreement. Given the brief period this agreement will be in effect, future cash flows were 
not discounted and provision was not made for future increases in salaries. The percentage 
of potential beneficiaries who will choose to opt into this system was estimated entity by 
entity.  
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4.  BASIS AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION 
 
All International Financial Reporting Standards have been applied with effect from 
1st January 2004, other than IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 which have been applied with effect 
from 1st January 2005. 
 

Note 4.1 CONSOLIDATION METHODS  
 
The consolidation methods used are: 
 
Full method 
Under this method, the investment in the subsidiary is replaced by the latter’s assets and 
liabilities, with minority interests in the company’s reserves and net profit for the year 
being separately identified. It is used for companies that are controlled exclusively, and 
whose activities represent an extension of the consolidating entity’s own activities, 
including banking, insurance, data processing services, etc. 
 
Equity method 
Under this method, the investment in the company is replaced by the Group’s share of its 
capital and reserves, including the net profit for the year ended. This method is applied in 
respect of companies over which significant influence is exercised, or those which are 
controlled exclusively or jointly but which apply a different chart of accounts and whose 
activities do not constitute an extension of the consolidating entity’s own activities. 
 
A special-purpose entity is consolidated only if the conditions defined by SIC12 (activities of 
the entity controlled exclusively by the Group, decision-making or management power to 
obtain the majority of the benefits related to the day-to-day activities of the entity, ability 
to profit from the benefits accruing to the entity; retention of the majority of risks) are 
met. 
 
Investments that are between 20%- and 50%-held by private equity companies are excluded 
from the consolidation scope and are recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The general principles for inclusion of a subsidiary in the consolidation scope are defined by 
IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31. 

Note 4.2 CONSOLIDATION OF NON-BANKING ACTIVITIES  
 
When a company does not operate in the banking sector, accounting policies specific to its 
industry are included in the consolidated accounts. The on- and off-balance sheet assets, 
liabilities and commitments of non-banking subsidiaries consolidated under the full or 
proportional method are reported on the corresponding lines of the consolidated accounts, 
except as detailed below. 
 
In order to report the activities of fully or proportionally consolidated insurance companies, 
the following lines have been added to the summary consolidated accounts: 
 
LIABILITIES 
 
Technical provisions of insurance companies  
 
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

 
A line entitled “Income and charges on other activities” has been added to the 
consolidated profit and loss account to highlight the weight of non-banking activities, 
including notably the Group’s insurance activities.  
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This includes: 
 
• Technical income and charges (life and non-life insurance) 

- Earned premiums; 
- Claims expenses (including changes in provisions); 
- Net investment income; 
- Other technical income and charges 

 
• Non-technical income (net of related charges) 
 
The banking sector favours classification by nature, whereas classification by function is 
preferred in the insurance industry. Therefore income and charges reported on the line 
“Gross profit of insurance companies” does not include items that, given their nature, can 
be reported on another profit and loss account line. However, when they relate to the 
investments of insurance companies, amortisation and provisions set aside or written back 
are dealt with on the line “Underwriting results and net investment income of insurance 
companies”. 
 

Note 4.3 FINANCIAL YEAR END 
 
All companies included in the consolidation scope have a 31 December year end. 
 

Note 4.4 GOODWILL 
 
In compliance with IFRS 3, on the day the Group assumes control of a new entity, the 
assets, liabilities, and any contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The 
difference between the price paid for the securities and the total valuation of the assets, 
liabilities, and any contingent liabilities constitutes the goodwill. If goodwill is positive it is 
recorded as an asset and if it is negative it is recognised immediately in profit or loss, in 
“Changes in the value of goodwill”. It may be recalculated if, in the 12 months following 
the acquisition, the valuation of the entity must be corrected for any changes attributable 
to causes unrelated to the acquisition. Any goodwill below €1 million is written off 
immediately. Goodwill is presented on a separate line of the balance sheet even when it 
pertains to an entity accounted for by the equity method. 
 
The Group regularly tests goodwill for impairment, at least once each year. These tests are 
intended to ensure that such goodwill has not experienced any permanent impairment. If 
the recoverable value of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the goodwill is allocated 
is less than its carrying value, the difference is recognised as impairment. This impairment, 
recognised in profit or loss, is irreversible. In practice, the Group’s CGUs are its various 
business lines. 
 
Valuation differences 
On the day the Group assumes control of a new entity, the assets, liabilities, and any 
contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The Group recognises any valuation 
differences, being the differences between carrying value and fair value. 
 

Note 4.5 RESTATEMENTS AND ELIMINATIONS 
 
All material transactions between fully consolidated companies are eliminated, as well as 
any intra-group gains or losses arising on these transactions. 
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Provisions in the nature of reserves are written back to reserves and to the profit and loss 
account, after the application of any deferred tax calculations. 
 
When the amounts are material, the company accounts prepared by consolidated 
companies are restated in order to comply with Group accounting policies. These 
restatements may concern banking and/or insurance companies. 
 
The impact of transactions between Group companies on the balance sheet and profit and 
loss account is eliminated, and any related gains or losses are reversed. 
 

Note 4.6 TRANSLATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are translated using the official exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Translation differences on the capital, reserves and 
retained earnings of these companies are reported under shareholders’ equity on the line 
“Translation adjustments”. The profit and loss accounts of these companies are translated 
using the average exchange rate for the period. 
 
Resulting translation differences are recorded directly to the "Translation reserves” 
account. These differences are reincorporated into profit or loss in the event of the 
disposal or liquidation of all or a portion of the investment held in the foreign entity. 
 
As allowed by IFRS 1, the Group elected to zero out translation reserves in its opening 
balance sheet at 1st January 2004. 
 

Note 4.7 CORPORATION TAX 
 
The tax charge for the year includes all taxes, both current and deferred, chargeable in 
respect of the income for the period under review. 
  
Current taxes are determined in accordance with applicable tax regulations. Banque 
Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM) has formed a tax group with three of its subsidiaries 
(including Ventadour Investissement). Another tax group has been formed by CIC with most 
of its regional banks and its subsidiaries. 
 
Pursuant to IAS 12, deferred taxes are calculated on a full provision basis, whereby taxes 
are recognised not only in respect of timing differences between profits and losses as 
computed for taxation purposes and as stated in the financial statements, but also when 
there is a difference between the value on the consolidated balance sheet of an asset or 
liability and its tax value. 
 
Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with the liability method, applying the 
corporation tax rate in effect at the end of the period and applicable in subsequent years. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised systematically, other than those relating to goodwill 
and valuation differences on intangible assets that cannot be disposed of separately from 
the entity acquired.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recorded only when their recovery is certain or probable. 
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Note 4.8 LEASES 

Finance leases - lessor 
In accordance with IAS 17, finance lease transactions are reported on the consolidated 
balance sheet at their financial accounting value. The unrealised reserve is booked to 
consolidated reserves for an amount net of deferred tax calculated on the entire unrealised 
reserve. 
 
In the case of finance leases entered into with a fully consolidated company, assets are 
reclassified under non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Equipment leases 
entered into with group companies are not restated, as transactions with other group 
companies do not involve material amounts. 

Finance leases - lessee 
In accordance with IAS 17, the non-current assets concerned are recorded on the balance 
sheet, and the borrowing from credit institutions is recorded as a liability. Lease payments 
are broken down between interest expense and repayment of principal. 

Lease-backs 
In accordance with IAS 17, gains on the sale to a leasing company of a building that was 
previously held in full and which will subsequently be rented from the buyer are spread 
over the term of the finance lease. 
 
 

Note 4.9 MEASUREMENT AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with CRC Standard 99-
07 of the French accounting regulation committee (Comité de la Réglementation 
Comptable – CRC) and presented in accordance with CRC Standard 2000-04. IAS 32, IAS 39 
and IFRS 4 were applied with effect from 1st January 2005, while the accounting principles 
previously applied under French GAAP continued to be applied for the following main 
categories: 
 
LOANS 
Loans are recorded in the balance sheet at nominal value. 
 
Loans are classified as impaired when amounts falling due are outstanding for more than 
three months, or six months in the case of property loans and nine months for local 
authorities, or when it is likely that the debtor will be unable to repay the full amount due. 
 
Loans are classified as impaired and delinquent when they have been delinquent for more 
than 12 months, when a default occurs or in the event of a winding-up by decision of the 
court. 
 
Delinquent loans restructured under non-market terms and conditions and reclassified in 
performing receivables are subject to a write-down that is expensed and added back into 
the interest margin over the term of the loan. 
 
SECURITIES PORTFOLIO 
Rules for the recognition of securities are set out in regulation CRB 90-01 as amended by 
regulation CRB 95-04 and by CRC standard 2000-02, and instruction CB 94-07 as amended by 
instruction CB 2000-12. 
 
In accordance with these texts, government securities, bonds and other fixed-income 
securities (interbank market securities, negotiable debt securities and marketable 
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securities) are analysed between trading securities, securities available for sale and 
securities held to maturity, while shares and other variable-yield securities are analysed 
between trading securities, securities available for sale, equities available for sale in the 
medium term, investments in associates, investments in related undertakings, and other 
long-term investments.  
 
Trading securities 
These are securities acquired with the intention of selling them within a maximum of six 
months. Trading securities are recorded at acquisition cost, including any accrued interest 
purchased. At each period end, the securities held are valued at the most recently 
available market price. The total difference arising from price changes is recognised as 
income or expense in the profit and loss account. 
 
Securities available for sale 
These are securities that are held for more than six months but without the intention of 
holding them to maturity. Securities available for sale are recorded at acquisition cost, 
excluding acquisition expenses. Any premiums or discounts are spread over the residual 
term of the securities. 
 
At each period end, each line of securities is measured individually, with bonds being 
organised into homogenous groups. When the carrying value is more than the likely trading 
value, an impairment provision is raised for the amount of the unrealised loss, this 
calculation being made for individual securities or homogenous groups of securities. 
Unrealised gains are not recognised and there is no offsetting between unrealised gains and 
losses. For shares listed in Paris, the likely trading value is the average price over the last 
month, while for shares listed elsewhere and bonds, it is the latest price in the last month. 
 
Securities held to maturity 
These are securities acquired with the intention of holding them until maturity. Securities 
held to maturity are recorded at acquisition cost, excluding acquisition expenses. The 
difference between the acquisition cost of the securities and their redemption value is 
spread over the residual term of the securities. These securities are backed by appropriate 
resources or interest rate instruments. 
 
A provision is raised when the financial situation of the issuer is likely to compromise 
redemption of the securities on maturity. 
 
Equities available for sale in the medium term 
These securities stem from investments made on a regular basis with the sole objective of 
generating a capital gain over the medium term without any intention to make a long-term 
investment in the business or to participate actively in its operational management. Such 
investments are made in the context of dedicated structures, and represent significant and 
ongoing investments whose profitability stems essentially from the realisation of capital 
gains on disposal. 
 
These securities are recorded at acquisition cost. At each period end, each line of 
securities is measured individually. When the carrying value is more than the value in use, 
an impairment provision is raised for the amount of the unrealised loss. Unrealised gains 
are not recognised. The value in use is determined by taking into account changes in the 
issuer’s general prospects and the likely period of ownership. For listed securities, the 
average share price over a sufficiently long period may be used. 
 
 
Other long-term investments, investments in associates and investments in related 
undertakings 
Other long-term investments are investments made in the form of securities with the 
intention of promoting the development of a long-term professional relationship with the 
issuer, while not exercising any influence over its management. Investments in associates 
are those that are deemed to be useful for the Group’s business when held long-term, 
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especially as they enable the Group to exercise influence over or assume control of the 
issuer. 
These securities are recorded at acquisition cost, which may be revalued in the context of 
the 1976 legal revaluation or as part of a merger or similar operation. At each period end, 
each line of securities is estimated individually. When the carrying value is more than the 
value in use, an impairment provision is raised for the amount of the unrealised loss. 
Unrealised gains are not recognised. The value in use represents the amount that the 
company would be prepared to disburse to obtain such securities if it had to acquire them 
taking into account its intention in holding the securities. The value in use may be 
estimated based on various criteria such as net assets after any adjustments, current and 
projected profitability, and the average share price in recent months. 
 
Securities given under resale agreements 
Securities given under resale agreements are recorded in assets on the balance sheet and 
the liability due to the assignor is recorded in liabilities. The valuation and revenue 
recognition principles remain those applicable to the category to which the securities sold 
belonged. 
 
TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING INTEREST RATE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE FUTURES  
The Group intervenes for its own account in various organised and over-the-counter 
markets in firm and conditional interest rate and foreign exchange futures in application of 
the risk management strategy relating to interest rate and foreign currency positions in its 
assets and liabilities. 
 
Transactions on organised and similar markets 
Contracts for firm and conditional futures traded on organised and similar markets are 
measured in accordance with the rules laid down by the French banking regulation 
committee (Comité de la Réglementation Bancaire – CRB). The contracts are revalued at 
the period end based on their listed prices in the various markets. The gain or loss arising 
from this revaluation is recognised in the profit and loss account. 
 
Transactions on over-the-counter markets 
Regulation no. 90-15 of the CRB is applied to all interest rate instruments traded over the 
counter. This treatment notably concerns interest rate and/or foreign currency swaps, 
forward rate agreements, options (caps, floors, etc.). In accordance with this regulation, 
the transactions are allocated at their inception to the various portfolios (open positions, 
micro hedges, overall asset/liability and off-balance sheet management, specialised 
management). 
 
Contracts classified in the open positions portfolio are measured at the lower of acquisition 
cost and market value. 
 
Income and charges relating to contracts classified in the micro hedges portfolio are 
recognised in the profit and loss account as equal and opposite entries to those recognised 
in respect of the hedged items. 
 
Income and charges relating to contracts classified in the overall interest-rate risk 
management portfolios are recognised in the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. 
 
Contracts included in the specialised management portfolios are marked to market. 
Changes in value are recognised in net banking income after making adjustments to reflect 
the counterparty risk and future management expenses. 
 
Structured products 
Structured products are financial structures offered to customers to more closely meet 
their specific needs. They are constructed using standard products, often involving options. 
CIC markets various categories of structured products based on the following standard 
products: traditional options, binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look-back 
options, options on several assets, and index swaps. 
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There are three main types of method for valuing such products: methods based on solving 
a partial differential equation, methods employing arborescence over discrete intervals and 
Monte-Carlo methods. CIC uses the first and third of these methods. The analytical methods 
applied are those used by the market to model the underlying used. 
 
The products are marked to market. The valuation parameters used are those observed or 
deduced via a standard model of the values observed at the balance sheet date. In the 
event that an organised market does not exist, the values used are obtained from the most 
active intermediaries in the corresponding products and/or extrapolated from listed values. 
A historical record is maintained of all parameters used. 
 
In the event that the valuation of certain instruments is based on complex models, the 
market parameters used as the basis for the valuation of these instruments are adjusted on 
a conservative basis to reflect, in particular, the level of liquidity of the markets concerned 
and their relevance for long-dated maturities. 
 
Valuation of unlisted financial futures 
These instruments are revalued based on prices that can be observed in the market. This 
“snapshot” procedure involves obtaining, at the same time each day, the bid and offer 
prices quoted by several market players using computerised market data applications. A 
single price is retained for each market parameter. 
 
ACCRUALS AND OTHER ASSETS/LIABILITIES  
Up to 31 December 1999, debt issuance costs were amortised during the year of issue. 
Issuance costs relating to issues made after this date are spread over the life of the debt 
concerned. 
 
Bond redemption premiums are amortised on a straight-line basis based over the term of 
the bonds. 
 
PROVISIONS  
Provisions are raised for likely losses on impaired receivables based on estimates of the 
amounts recoverable. 
 
Interest that is overdue by more than three months (six months for property loans and nine 
months for local authorities) is recognised in banking income and is provided for in full. 
 
Movements in provisions relating to principal balances on impaired receivables are 
recognised in cost of risk. Movements in provisions relating to interest on impaired 
receivables are deducted from interest income. 
 
Movements in provisions for risks and charges are classified by type in the corresponding 
expense accounts. 
 
Provisions relating to asset items are deducted from the corresponding receivables, which 
are thus shown at their net amount. Provisions relating to off-balance sheet commitments 
are included in provisions for risks. 
 
Provisions raised to cover sovereign and emerging market risks are determined based on the 
economic situation of the borrowing country. Specific provisions are deducted from the 
corresponding assets. 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR CREDIT RISKS 
Since the year ended 31 December 2000, CIC has raised general provisions for credit risks to 
cover incurred but undetected risks on performing loans and commitments given on behalf 
of customers. These provisions are determined as follows: 
• for lending activities other than specialised financing, based on an average cost of 

risk i.e. 0.5% of performing customer outstanding; 
• for the specialised financing business and foreign branches, based on a cost of risk 

represented by an average cost of default that is associated with the ratings assigned 
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to the receivables. This method takes into account the reduced dispersion of risks 
and the greater size of certain individual loans and hence the increased volatility. 

These general provisions for credit risks will be reversed following the occurrence of any of 
the events they are designed to cover. They may also include a general provision to cover 
major group risks. 
 
GENERAL BANKING RISKS RESERVE 
Pursuant to Article 3 of CRB 90-02 and for reasons of prudence, a general banking risks 
reserve has been set up to cover general, unidentified risks that are inherent to the banking 
business. New provisions and reversals are decided by management and are reflected in the 
profit and loss account. 
 
INTEREST AND FEES AND COMMISSIONS 
Interest is recorded in the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. Fees and 
commissions are recognised on a cash basis except in the case of fees and commissions on 
financial transactions, which are recognised when the issue is closed or when billed. 
 
Since the year ended 31 December 2003, interest on impaired and delinquent receivables is 
no longer recognised in income. 
 
Fees and commissions comprise banking revenues for services provided to third parties, 
with the exception of revenues that are equivalent to interest, i.e. which are calculated 
based on the term and amount of the receivable or commitment given. 
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Notes IFRS

The notes to the financial statements are presented in millions of euros

NOTE 1 - Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts 
Loans and advances to credit institutions

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts
Central banks 3 648 2 119
  of which mandatory reserves 573 450
Cash in hand, post office accounts 271 248
Total 3 919 2 367
Loans and advances to credit institutions
Crédit Mutuel network accounts 229 262
Other ordinary accounts 2 490 2 501
Loans 53 842 43 748
Other receivables 92 744
Securities not listed on an active market 5 276 4 605
Repurchase agreements 17 212 14 610
Receivables written down individually 29 21
Loans to affiliates 137 98
Provisions -15 -18
Total 80 122 66 571

 

NOTE 2 - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
.Securities 56 115 50 162
   - Government securities 23 466 22 839
   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 19 754 14 900
        . Listed 19 070 14 076
        . Not listed 684 824
   - Shares and other variable-yield securities 12 894 12 423
        . Listed 11 901 11 938
        . Not listed 993 485
. Trading derivatives 5 626 3 660
. Other financial assets (1) 6 914 7 450
of which repurchase agreements 5 998 6 170
TOTAL 68 657 61 272
   

NOTE 3 - Derivative hedging instruments

Asset Liability Asset Liability
. Cash flow hedges 3 13 3 11
  - change in value through profit or loss 3 13 3 11
. Fair value hedges (change through profit or loss) 719 1 191 319 678
TOTAL 722 1 204 322 689

  
NOTE 4a - Financial assets available for sale

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
. Government securities 763 236
. Bonds and other fixed-income securities 37 841 37 645
    - Listed 37 525 36 680
    - Not listed 316 966
. Shares and other variable-yield securities 3 125 2 614
    - Listed 3 042 2 193
    - Not listed 83 422
. Long-term investments 1 145 1 286
   - Investments in associates 762 913
   - Other long-term investments 291 235
   - Investments in related undertakings 93 139
   - Translation differences 0 0
   - Securities lent 0 0
   - Doubtful loans to CC SCI 0 0
. Related receivables 276 318
TOTAL 48 149 42 099
of which investments in listed associates 419 617

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
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Notes IFRS

NOTE 4 b - Principal non-consolidated investments  

 

% held Shareholders' Total  assets NBI or Revenue Net profit  

Veolia < 5% 3 563 36 265 24 673 125
Crédit logement < 5% 1 372 6 207 178 55
Banca Popolare di Milano < 5% 2 630 34 669 n/a 128
Investessor 49% 83 112 n/a n/a
Holding Eurocard 45% 19 19 n/a n/a
Groupe SFEJIC l'Alsace 78% 5 58 1 -2
CRH (Caisse de refinancement de l'habitat) 17% 104 17 452 1 0
The various figures (excluding percentage held) concern 2004.

NOTE 4 c  - Derivatives

Notional Asset Liability Notional Asset Liability
Trading derivatives
 Interest rate instruments
     Swaps 607 333 1 630 1 411 610 820 948 566
     Other firm contracts 58 591 17 0 79 148 6 2
     Options and conditional instruments 3 982 195 160 3 464 210 180
 Foreign exchange instruments       
     Swaps  25 41  103 82
     Other firm contracts 143 737 616 151 643 553
     Options and conditional instruments 48 236 22 23 55 943 19 22
 Other instruments       
     Swaps 34 415 79 23 25 860 2 211
     Other firm contracts 27 642 0 0 37 828 0 1
     Options and conditional instruments 66 278 2 920 3 272 54 073 1 727 2 325
Sub-total 846 620 5 625 5 546 867 287 3 658 3 942
Hedging derivatives
  Fair Value Hedge
      Swaps 7 119 719 1 191 4 319 319 678
     Autres contrats fermes 0 0 0 0 0 0
     Options and conditional instruments 47 0  0 0  
  Cash Flow Hedge       
      Swaps 82 1 13 82 1 11
      Autres contrats fermes 0   0   
     Options and conditional instruments 0 1  0 1  
Sub-total 7 248 721 1 203 4 401 320 689
Total 853 868 6 346 6 749 871 688 3 978 4 631

NOTE 5 - Customer loans and receivables

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Performing receivables 76 705 65 521
. Trade receivables 4 749 4 422
. Other customer receivables 71 550 60 979
   - home-related loans 31 546 24 789
   - other loans and receivables including repurchase agreemen 40 003 35 890
. Related receivables 172 150
. Securities not listed on an active market 235 270
Receivables written down individually 3 517 3 663
Provisions -2 398 -2 500
 SUB-TOTAL I (1) 77 824 66 683
Finance leases (net investment) 5 508 5 412
. Equipment 3 403 3 320  
. Property 1 986 1 963
. Receivables written down individually 119 129
Provisions -82 -82
 SUB-TOTAL II 5 426 5 330  
TOTAL 83 250 72 013  
of which subordinated loans 15 100
 

Finance leases with customers   

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other Closing balance  

Gross book value 5 412 431 -159 -181 5 508   

Impairment of uncollectable lease payments -82 -24 23 5 -82  
Net book value 5 329 407 -136 -176 5 426

01.01.200531.12.2005
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NOTE 6 - Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk
Description of assets and liabilities hedged and hedging instruments

 Fair value
31.12.2005 01.01.2005

Fair value of interest rate risk by portfolio
. Financial assets 17 21 -4
. Financial liabilities 189 284 -95

  

NOTE 7a - Financial assets held to maturity

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
.Securities 1 098 1 033
   - Government securities 701 758
   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 397 275
        . Listed 136 189
        . Not listed 261 87
. Related receivables 12 22
TOTAL - GROSS 1 109 1 055
Provisions for impairment -3 -3
TOTAL - NET 1 106 1 052

 

NOTE 7 b - Analysis of provisions

01.01.2005 Charges Write-backs Other 31.12.2005
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions -18 0 1 2 -15
Customer loans and receivables -2 500 -623 219 506 -2 398
Securities available for sale -364 -7 9 105 -257
Securities held to maturity -3 0 0 0 -3
TOTAL -2 884 -630 229 613 -2 672  

NOTE 8 a - Current taxes

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Current tax assets (through profit or loss) 195 265
Actif (par capitaux propres) 0 0
Current tax liabilities (through profit or loss) 224 168

NOTE 8 b - Deferred taxes

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Deferred tax assets (through profit or loss) 292 314
Deferred tax assets (through shareholders' equity) 12 12
Deferred tax liabilities (through profit or loss) 420 429
Deferred tax liabilities (through shareholders' equity) 74 39

NOTE 9 a - Prepayments, accrued income and other assets

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Prepayments and accrued income
Securities collection accounts 6 031 3 985
Currency adjustment accounts 74 84
Accrued income 618 595
Sundry accruals 1 669 2 652
Sub-total 8 393 7 315
Other assets
Settlement accounts on securities transactions 1 241 762
Other debtors 4 467 4 011
Inventories and equivalents 0 1
Sundry -9 -5
Sub-total 5 700 4 768
Other assets of insurance companies
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 226 321
Deposits with credit institutions 0 1
Reinsurers' shares in technical provisions 251 213
Sub-total 477 536
Total 14 569 12 619

Change in fair value
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NOTE 9 b - Accrued charges, deferred income and other liabilities

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Accrued charges and deferred income
Blocked accounts on collection transactions 5 922 4 996
Currency adjustment accounts 273 748
Accrued charges 567 680
Sundry accruals 1 596 2 472
Sub-total 8 358 8 896
Other liabilities
Settlement accounts on securities transactions 1 864 868
Payments to be made on securities 40 43
Other creditors 3 670 2 713
Sub-total 5 573 3 624
Other liabilities of insurance companies
Insurance and reinsurance liabilities 97 105  

Due to credit institutions 70 20  

Security deposits and guarantees received 4 0
Sub-total 171 126
Total 14 103 12 646

NOTE 10 - Investments in companies accounted for by the equity method  
Share in net profit of companies accounted for by the equity method

InvestmentShare in net profit InvestmentShare in net profit
Banque de Tunisie 34 2
La Pérennité 15 1 14 4
CMCP 4 0 4  
Euro information 46 9 38 5
Euro information Développement 18 3
SCI Tréflière 11 0 11 0
Subsidiaries of the GACM sub-group 43 8 26 4
Other 2
TOTAL 171 23 92 15

NOTE 11 - Investment property

 
Opening balance Increase Decrease Other changes Closing balance

Historical cost 430 1 -4 250 677

Depreciation and impairment -69 -1 2 -13 -81

Net value 361 0 -2 237 596

NOTE 12 - Property, plant and equipment

Accounting method Opening balance Increase Decrease Other changes Closing balance
Historical cost
Land used in operations 289 3 1 1 293
Buildings used in operations 1 440 134 -52 -24 1 498
Other property, plant and equipment 893 140 -113 19 938
Total 2 623 276 -165 -4 2 730
Depreciation and impairment
Terrains d'exploitation 0 0 0 0 0
Buildings used in operations -688 -81 38 22 -709
Other property, plant and equipment -611 -86 58 -5 -644
Total -1 299 -167 96 17 -1 353
Net value 1 324 110 -69 13 1 377  
 

of which buildings rented under finance leases

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other Closing balance  
Land used in operations 45 0 0 0 45
Buildings used in operations 51 -2 0 0 49
Total 95 -2 0 0 94

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
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NOTE 13 - Intangible assets 

Accounting method
01.01.2005 Acquisitions Disposals Other changes 31.12.2005

Historical cost
. Immobilisations générées en interne 0 0 0 0 0
. Non-current assets acquired 241 15 -20 -52 185
   - software 0 0 0 1 1
   - other 241 15 -20 -53 184
Total 241 15 -20 -52 185
Amortisation and impairment
. Non-current assets acquired -119 -3 18 17 -75
   - software 0 0 0 0 -1
   - other -119 -3 18 17 -75
Total -119 -3 18 17 -75
Net value 123 13 -2 -35 109  
 

NOTE 14 - Goodwill

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other changes 31.12.2005
Goodwill - gross 879 0 -6 3 876
Impairment -282 0 0 4 -278
Goodwill - net 597 0 -6 7 598  

Goodwill  

Subsidiaries
Value of 

goodwill at 31 
December 2004

Increase Decrease
Change in 
impairment

Value of goodwill 
at 31 December 

2005
Groupe CIC 517 517
IPO 21 21
Pérénnité 19 19
Banque du Luxembourg 13 13
Groupe ACM 8 8
Banque Transatlantique 6 6
Banque Pasche 3 3
Other 10 1 11
TOTAL 597 0 0 1 598

 
NOTE 15 - Central banks, post office accounts   

Amounts due to credit institutions

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Central banks, post office accounts
Central banks 0 59
Post office accounts 0 0
Total 0 60
Amounts due to credit institutions
Comptes réseau Crédit Mutuel 0 0
Autres comptes ordinaires 0 0
Borrowings 1 453 1 536
Other liabilities 53 236 45 051
Repurchase agreements 34 142 30 913
Related liabilities 355 261
Total 89 185 77 761  

NOTE 16 a - Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Financial liabilities held for trading purposes 21 669 17 378
Financial liabilities at fair value by option through profit or lo 11 499 13 961  
TOTAL 33 168 31 339
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NOTE 16 b - Financial liabilities held for trading purposes

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
.Short sales of securities
   - Government securities 0 12 800
   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 13 707 131
   - Shares and other variable-yield securities 2 014 22
. Debt securities given under resale agreements 0 0
. Trading derivatives 5 546 3 942
. Other financial liabilities held for trading purposes 403 483
TOTAL 21 669 17 378

NOTE 16 c - Financial liabilities at fair value by option through profit or loss

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
. Securities issued   
    - Bonds 0 0
    - Certificates of deposit 0 0
    - Other 2 223 2 161
. Debt securities given under resale agreements 9 274 11 666
. Subordinated debt 0 0
. Debt    
    - Interbank 0 0
    - Customers 1 134
. Other liabilities under fair value option 0 0
TOTAL 11 499 13 961

NOTE 17 - Customer deposits

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
. Special regulated savings deposits 20 469 19 897
   - On demand 11 792 11 201
   - Term 8 677 8 696
. Liabilities associated with savings deposits 37 45
Sub-total 20 506 19 942
. Ordinary accounts 23 888 20 759
. Term accounts and borrowings 10 911 11 067
. Repurchase agreements 1 527 1 691
. Reinsurance liabilities 0 0  
. Related liabilities 49 47
Sub-total 36 374 33 563
TOTAL 56 880 53 505

 

NOTE 18 - Debt securities

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Certificates of deposit 40 59
Interbank certificates & negotiable debt securities 37 111 29 121
Bonds 13 798 9 491
Related liabilities 466 513
TOTAL 51 415 39 185

  

NOTE 19 - Technical provisions on insurance contracts

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Life 31 701 27 652
Non-life 1 681 1 510
Unit-linked 4 235 3 615
Other 203 323
TOTAL 37 819 33 100
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NOTE 20 - Provisions for risks and charges

Opening balance Increases
Reversals for 

the period (used)
Reversals for 

the period (not 
Other changes Closing balance

Provisions for pension obligations 212 28 -34 -2 0 205
Provisions for risks 233 125 -96 0 15 276
Other 212 47 -77 2 -6 177
Total 657 200 -207 0 9 658  

Pension obligations and similar benefits

Opening balance Increases Reversals Other changes Closing balance

Obligations relating to defined benefit pension plans and similar, excluding pension funds

   Retirement indemnities 45 16 -7 -2 52
   Top-up retirement benefits 55 1 -1 -4 52

Premiums linked to service awards (other long-term 
benefits) 33 2 0 -1 34

   Total booked 133 20 -8 -7 138
Top-up defined benefit pension plans covered by the group's pension funds

   Obligations to employees and retired employees 42 1 -3 0 40
   Fair value of assets

   Total booked 42 1 -3 0 40
(The pension fund assets include 35,000 CIC shares)
Obligations in respect of early retirement agreements

   Obligations 36 7 -1 -15 28
   Total booked 36 7 -1 -15 28

Pension plan funding deficit Opening balance
Effect of 
discounting Financial income

Change in 
actuarial gains 

Paid to 
beneficiaries

Subsidies 
received Closing balance

Obligations 139 5 -8 -7 129
Plan assets 100 4 9 -7 3 108
Deferred actuarial gains or losses -5 17 13
Provision 35 5 -4 0 0 -3 33
Foreign subsidiaries 7 6
TOTAL 42 5 -4 0 0 -3 39
These figures concern only CIC - the CEE subsidiaries are covered by Carmut, a non-consolidated entity

NOTE 21 a - Subordinated debt

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Subordinated debt 3 052 3 151
Equity loans 156 156
Perpetual subordinated debt 2 423 1 073
Other debt 0 473
Related liabilities 111 102
TOTAL 5 742 4 955

Principal subordinated debt issues
 

Type Date Amount Balance at Rate Maturity
of issue issued end of period (%)

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €85m €85m 5,75 17.11.2007
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €50m €50m 5,40 29.06.2011
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €700m €700m 6,50 19.07.2013
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €800m €800m 5,00 30.09.2015
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Super subordinated €1,600m €1,600m  undetermined
Banque de l'Economie, du Commerce et de la Monétique Equity loan €122m €122m 29.11.2013
Banque de l'Economie, du Commerce et de la Monétique Equity loan €122m €122m undetermined
CIC Redeemable €300m €300m * 19.07.2013
CIC Redeemable $350m $350m 30.09.2015
CIC Equity loan 28.05.85 €137m €137m ** ***
CIC Perpetual 11.06.97 €191m €191m ****

*     3-month Euribor + 89.5 basis points
**    Minimum 85% (average annual money market rate [TAM]+ average annual bond rate [TMO])/2; Maximum 130% (TAM+TMO)/2
***   Non amortisable but redeemable at the borrower's request as from 28 May 1997 at 130% of the nominal amount revalued at 1.5% per year for subsequent years
**** Fixed rate of 6.60% to 2007, then 3-month Euribor + 2.25%

The assumptions used for calculating pension obligations and similar benefits included a discount rate equal to the long-term yield on government bonds as measured by the TEC 10 index. The differential between the discount rate and estimated rate of future salary
increases is 1.1%. This rate was 1.4% the previous year.
Employee retirement assumptions are revised each year for each country based on regulatory conditions. The AFB collective agreement for bank employees of 29 March 2005 was taken into account for this revision. The above obligations concern only the CIC group
as Crédit Mutuel's obligations are outsourced.
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NOTE 21 b - Financial liabilities at fair value by option through profit or loss

01.01.2005
Book Amount due Difference
Value at maturity Book value

.Securities issued
   - Bonds 0 0 0 0
   - Certificates of deposit 0 0 0 0
   - Other, including interbank market securities 2 223 2 224 (1) 2 161
. Debt securities given under resale agreements 9 274 9 206 (11) 11 666
. Subordinated debt 0 0 0 0
. Debt   
   - interbank 
   - customers 1 1 0 134
. Other liabilities under fair value option
Total 11 499 11 431 -12 0 13 961

NOTE 22 - Capital and reserves

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
. Capital 1 302 1 302  
. Réserves liées au capital 0 0
. Consolidated reserves 3 937 3 194
   - Réserve légale 0 0
   - Réserves statutaires et contractuelles 0 0
   - Regulated reserves 6 7
   - Translation reserves 18 -9
   - Other reserves (including impact of first-time adoption) 3 914 3 197
   - Retained earnings -1 -1
Total 5 240 4 496

NOTE 23 a - Unrealised or deferred gains or losses 

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Unrealised or deferred gains or losses* on
- assets available for sale 368 228
- hedging derivatives (CFH) 0 0
Total 368 228
* net of corporation tax

NOTE 23 b - Analysis of certain assets/ liabilities according to residual maturity  

Less than Between 3 months Between 1 year More than Undetermined Related Total

3 months and  and 1 year and 5 years 5 years receivables
on demand or liabilities

Assets
Amounts due from credit institutions  (1) 35 865 2 584 43 523 3 329 0 158 85 459
Amounts due from customers  (1) 19 915 6 932 23 444 26 115 19 172 76 596
Bonds and other fixed-income securities  (3) 680 1 762 10 194 7 544 53 331 20 564
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions  (2) 45 413 15 206 36 693 785 8 391 98 496
Amounts due to customers  (2) 37 921 2 508 2 358 874 99 46 43 805
Debt securities  (2)  
 - Certificates of deposit 22 10 7 1 0 1 41
 - Interbank securities and negotiable debt securities 26 052 8 122 2 032 2 488 0 379 39 073
 - Bonds 1 264 1 988 7 763 2 953 1 85 14 056
 - Subordinated debt 274 199 497 2 0 111 1 083
 - Other 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

31.12.2005

The balance sheet items are presented by contractual maturity date.
The outstanding amounts do not not include related receivables or liabilities, non-performing receivables or provisions for impairment.
(1) receivables at amortised cost and at fair value;
(2) liabilities at amortised cost and at fair value;
(3) only for available-for-sale securities, at fair value by option, held to maturity and not listed on an active market.
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NOTE 23 c - Commitments given and received

Commitments given 31.12.05 01.01.05

Financing commitments
Commitments given to credit institutions  954 1 523
Commitments given to customers  24 758 23 832

 
Guarantee commitments  
Commitments given to credit institutions  1 003 603
Commitments given to customers  9 621 9 054

Commitments on securities
Securities acquired under resale agreements  0 0
Other commitments given  1 673 1 269

Commitments received 31.12.05 01.01.05

Financing commitments
Commitments received from credit institutions  17 18

Guarantee commitments
Commitments received from credit institutions  11 966 6 844

Commitments on securities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements  0 0
Other commitments received  1 448 858

NOTE 24 - Interest and similar income/charges

Income Charges Income Charges
. Credit institutions & central banks 2 726 -3 555 3 487 -4 108
. Customers 3 174 -913 2 909 -931
   - of which finance leases (1) 1 878 -1 644 1 790 -1 551
. Financial assets/liabilities at fair value by option through 
profit or loss

0 0 0 0

. Hedging derivatives 3 059 -3 271 2 830 -3 428

. Financial assets available for sale 680 0 1 073 0

. Financial assets held to maturity  66 0 134 0

. Debt securities 0 -1 464 0 -1 120

. Subordinated debt 0 -94 0 -22
TOTAL 11 582 -10 941 12 222 -11 161

 
NOTE 25 - Fees and commissions

Income Charges Income Charges
Credit institutions 8 -6 8 -8
Customers 558 -7 571 -8
Securities 617 -77 510 -49
Derivative instruments 14 -27 15 -32
Foreign exchange 24 -12 20 -11
Loan commitments and guarantee obligations 5 -3 5 -3
Services rendered 688 -567 685 -507
TOTAL 1 913 -699 1 814 -617

  

NOTE 26 - Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Trading instruments 968 880
Instruments at fair value by option 441 0
Ineffective portion of hedges -89 0  
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 76 24
Total changes in fair value 1 396 904
of which trading derivatives -1 145 -1 217  

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
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NOTE 27 - Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale

Dividends
Gains/losses 

realised
Impairment Total

. Government securities, bonds and other fixed-income securities 72 1 73

. Shares and other variable-yield securities 10 34 1 45

. Long-term investments 30 116 -3 143

. Other 0 0 0 0
Total 40 222 -2 260

 

Dividends Gains/losses Impairment Total
. Government securities, bonds and other fixed-income securities 131 0 131
. Shares and other variable-yield securities 24 159 -3 180
. Long-term investments 20 10 19 49
. Other 0 3 0 3
Total 44 302 16 362

NOTE 28 - Income/charges from other activities  

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Income from other activities
. Insurance contracts: 8 378 6 589
    - premiums earned 6 681 5 337
    - net investment income 1 658 1 223
    - technical and non-technical income 38 29
. Investment property:   
    - gains on disposals 1 0
. Other income 163 121
Sub-total 8 541 6 711
Charges on other activities
. Insurance contracts: -7 553 -5 949
    - cost of benefits -3 135 -2 755
    - changes in provisions -4 437 -3 230
    - technical and non-technical charges 19 35
. Investment property: -1 -1
    - increases in provisions/amortisation (depending on metho -1 -1
. Other charges -106 -32
Sub-total -7 660 -5 981
Total other net income (charges) 881 730
(1) including conditional rent

NOTE 29 a - General operating expenses

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Staff costs -1 662 1 588
Other charges -1 220 1 164
TOTAL -2 882 2 753

 

NOTE 29 b - Staff costs

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Wages and salaries -1 002 -997
Social security costs -481 -449
Employee profit-sharing and incentives -91 -93
Payroll and similar taxes -91 -85
Other 3 35
TOTAL -1 662 -1 588

 

Average staff

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Banking staff 17 226 16 242
Management staff 9 818 9 420
Total 27 044 25 662

31.12.2005

31.12.2004
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NOTE 29 c - Other operating charges

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Taxes and duties (other than corporation tax) -157 -138
External services -905 -888
Sundry charges (transport, travel, etc.) 23 37
Total -1 040 -990

 

 

 31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Depreciation and amortisation: -171 -178
- Property, plant and equipment -167 -173
- Intangible assets -4 -5
Impairment: -9 3
- Property, plant and equipment -8 5
- Intangible assets -1 -3
Total -180 -175

 
Intangible assets include notably leasehold rights. These rights are deemed to be open-ended, and as such
they are not amortised. They are tested for impairment in the same manner as all other non-current assets

NOTE 31 - Cost of risk 

Increases Recoveries
Uncollectable 
receivables 

covered

Uncollectable 
receivables not 

covered

Collections of 
receivables 

previously written 
TOTAL

Credit institutions 0 4 -1 0 0 2
Customers -622 735 -224 -30 26 -115
. Finance leases -6 11 -4 -5 1 -3
. Other -616 725 -221 -25 24 -113

 Sub-total -622 739 -226 -30 26 -114
HTM 0 0 0 0 0 0
AFS -1 0 0 0 0 0
Other -71 79 0 0 2 10
Total -693 818 -226 -30 27 -104
   

NOTE 32 - Gains or losses on other assets

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 10 3
. Losses on disposals -9 -7
. Gains on disposals 18 10
Gains (losses) on disposals of consolidated securities 0 0
TOTAL 10 3

 

NOTE 30 - Increases/recoveries of depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
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NOTE 33 - Changes in value of goodwill

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Impairment 0 0
Negative goodwill charged to the profit and loss account 0 0
TOTAL 0 0

NOTE 34 - Tax charge for the period

Breakdown of tax charge for the period

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Current taxes -369 -334
Deferred taxes 16 -63
Impact des variations de taux d'impôt sur les impôts différés 0  
Adjustments for prior years 6 2
TOTAL -347 -395

 

Reconciliation of actual tax charge and theoretical tax charge

31.12.2005
Theoretical tax rate 34,9%
Impact of special tax conditions for SCR and SICOMI -5,0%
Impact of reduced tax rate on long-term capital gains -1,6%
Impact of specific tax rates at foreign entities -0,5%
Permanent timing differences 0,0%
Tax credits -1,7%
Other -1,5%
Effective tax rate 24,1%
Taxable income 1 440
Tax charge -347

Analysis of deferred taxes by category

Asset Liability
. Temporary timing differences on
   - deferred gains/losses on securities available for sale 12 74
   - provisions 130
   - hidden reserve for finance leases 45
   - earnings of partnerships 5 27
   - insurance activities 47 263
   - other temporary timing differences 197 172
. Netting -87 -87
Total deferred tax assets and liabilities 304 494

NOTE 35 - Earnings per share

31.12.2005 31.12.2004
Net profit, Group share 944 791
Number of shares at 1 January 26 043 845 26 043 845
Number of share at 31 December 26 043 845 26 043 845
Weighted average number of shares 26 043 845 26 043 845
Basic earnings per share 36,27 30,35
Weighted average number of shares that could be issued 0 0
Diluted earnings per share 36,27 30,35

31.12.2005

CIC, the regional banks and all the main subsidiaries that are more than 95%-owned form a tax group. 
Each regional CIC bank that is a member of the tax group constitutes a contractual sub-group along with its own subsidiaries. The members
of the tax group are identified in the list of consolidated companies by an (i) in front of their names.
Tax integration of the tax group formed by CIC generated a profit of €227 million in current tax in 2005.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method.
For French companies, the rate of deferred tax was 34.43%.
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NOTE 36 - Breakdown of balance sheet and profit and loss by activity and by geographic area

Breakdown of assets and liabilities by activity

ASSETS

2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and Total
banking Investment banking Banking Equity holding companies

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office acco 684 0 2 966 269 0 0 3 919
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 339 9 260 57 331 393 1 278 55 68 656
Derivative hedging instruments - Asset 661 0 26 34 0 0 722
Financial assets available for sale 488 24 972 6 726 10 473 53 438 43 150
Loans and advances to credit institutions 2 338 5 027 71 350 1 105 5 298 80 123
Loans and advances to customers 64 355 177 15 022 3 334 1 361 83 250
Financial assets held to maturity 800 0 299 7 0 0 1 107
Holdings in companies accounted for by the equity method 114 58 0 0 0 0 171

LIABILITIES
2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and Total

banking Investment bankin Banking Equity holding companies
Central Banks, Post office accounts - Liability 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 188 0 32 914 65 0 0 33 168
Derivative hedging instruments - Liability 596 0 47 561 0 0 1 203
Amounts due to credit institutions 19 720 (347) 66 095 3 465 0 252 89 184
Amounts due to customers 40 853 0 5 429 10 523 0 75 56 880
Debt securities 4 245 0 47 154 15 0 0 51 414

Breakdown of profit and loss by activity

2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and inter Total
IFRS banking Investment bankin Banking Equity holding companies activities

Net banking income 2 756 754 345 330 246 (13) (26) 4 392
Overheads (2 031) (268) (341) (207) (26) (34) 26 (2 881)

Gross operating profit 725 486 4 123 220 (47) 1 511
Cost of risk (121) 20 (4) 1 (104)

Gains on other assets* 20 9 0 4 33
Profit before tax 624 495 24 119 221 (43) 1 440
Corporation tax (199) (166) (5) (24) 3 44 (347)

Net profit before minority interests 425 329 19 95 224 1 0 1 093
Minority interests 149

Net profit, Group share 944

2004 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and inter Total
IFRS excl. IAS 32-39 banking Investment bankin Banking Equity holding companies activities

Net banking income 2 655 630 648 310 70 (49) (9) 4 255
Overheads (1 955) (241) (303) (203) (27) (33) 9 (2 753)

Gross operating profit 700 389 345 107 43 (82) 1 502
Cost of risk (249) (3) 40 (6) (218)

Gains on other assets* 3 8 1 2 5 19
Profit before tax 454 394 386 101 45 (77) 1 303
Corporation tax (157) (123) (130) (23) (2) 40 (395)

Net profit before minority interests 297 271 256 78 43 (37) 0 908
Minority interests 118

Net profit, Group share 791
* including net profit or loss of companies accounted for by the equity method and goodwill impairment

The activities are as follows:
• Retail banking covers the activities of the network of the regional banks and of CIC in the Paris region as well as all the specialist activities whose products are marketed through the branch network: finance leasing of goods and property, factoring, fund management,
employee savings plans, and property. Insurance activities accounted for by the equity method are included under retail banking.
• Corporate and investment banking and capital markets covers:
a) the financing of large corporate and institutional customers, specialised financing, international activities and activities carried out through foreign subsidiaries,
b) market activities in general, i.e. involving interest rate products, foreign exchange and equities, whether on a customer's behalf or for the bank's own account, including brokerage activities.
• Private banking covers all companies whose main activity is private banking, both in France and abroad.
• Private equity activities carried out for the bank's own account and financial engineering respresent a business division.
• Administration and holding companies groups all the components that cannot be allocated to any of the other divisions and logistics structures: intermediate holding companies, operating property assets held by specific entities and IT companies.
Consolidated entities are allocated in full to their principal activity based on their contribution to the consolidated accounts. There are only two exceptions: CIC due to its presence in several activities and Cial for its market activities only. In these cases, the company
accounts are broken down analytically.
The balance sheet is split in the same way.
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Breakdown of assets and liabilities by geographic area

ASSETS

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world * Total
Europe Europe

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office acco 3 649 268 2 3 919 2 132 233 2 2 367
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 63 573 2 023 3 060 68 657 57 306 1 692 2 274 61 272
Derivative hedging instruments - Asset 697 20 5 722 310 9 3 322
Financial assets available for sale 31 439 10 430 1 280 43 149 30 450 9 978 1 672 42 100
Loans and advances to credit institutions 77 901 1 013 1 208 80 123 64 649 1 078 843 66 570
Loans and advances to customers 77 475 3 884 1 890 83 250 66 663 3 720 1 630 72 013
Financial assets held to maturity 857 249 0 1 107 956 97 0 1 053
Holdings in companies accounted for by the equity method 137 0 34 171 92 0 0 92

LIABILITIES

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world * Total
Europe Europe

Central Banks, Post office accounts - Liability 0 0 0 0 0 59 0 60
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 28 494 4 664 11 33 168 27 966 3 371 3 31 339
Derivative hedging instruments - Liability 654 547 2 1 203 40 650 -1 689
Amounts due to credit institutions 87 342 -1154 2 997 89 185 73 687 2 240 1 835 77 761
Amounts due to customers 46 228 10 200 452 56 880 43 025 10 070 410 53 505
Debt securities 44 987 2 663 3 764 51 415 35 854 -690 4 022 39 185
 * USA, Singapore and Tunisia

Breakdown of profit and loss by geographic area

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world * Total
Europe Europe

Net banking income 4 021 294 78 4 393 3 900 270 84 4 255
Overheads -2670 -172 -40 -2882 -2550 -163 -40 -2753 

Gross operating profit 1 351 122 38 1 511 1 351 108 44 1 502
Cost of risk -119 11 4 -104 -227 4 6 -218 

Gains on other assets* 31 0 2 33 19 0 0 19

Profit before tax 1 263 133 44 1 440 1 142 112 49 1 303
Total net profit 949 108 35 1 093 785 89 34 908

Net profit, Group share 809 103 33 944 676 84 31 791
 * USA, Singapore and Tunisia
* including net profit or loss of companies accounted for by the equity method and goodwill impairment

NOTE 37 - Credit risk on financial instruments

31.12.2005

31.12.2005 31.12.2004 - IFRS excluding IAS 32 - 39

31.12.2005 31.12.2004 - IFRS excluding IAS 32 - 39

31.12.2004 - IFRS excluding IAS 32 - 39

Credit risk is the risk of incurring a loss as a result of a borrower defaulting on his contractual obligations. This risk concerns loans and debt securities held as well as counterparty risk on market transactions.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's strategy is to integrate a risk management dimension into its decision making process at all levels. This calls for the close involvement of the Group's General Management and each of the Regional Divisions in individual decisions and overall risk monito
through the introduction of standardised rules and procedures.

Risk management is organised as follows:

Know your customer
Knowledge of customers and identification of prospective customers is underpinned by the close ties built up by the Regional Divisions in their local economic environments. Customer segmentation and classification by risk category directs marketing initiatives towards 
targeted customers, thanks in particular to the use of dedicated software. Sector expertise is also available for the more sensitive business sectors.
All counterparties are rated using an internal rating system that complies with Basel II requirements. The internal rating system is used throughout the CMCIC Group.

Decision-making procedures
Decision-making is essentially based on delegation of powers in Retail Banking and on a Committees-based system in Corporate and Investment Banking. The Commitments Department oversees the proper functioning of the overall system and is responsible for 
validating decisions and for ensuring that the decision-maker or committee has all the necessary information on every aspect of the commitment (counterparty, market, transaction, etc.).
The power delegated (loan acceptance powers) varies according to the loan officer's  experience and to the counterparty's relative weighting and the type of transaction (products). Automatic delegation is another factor contributing to security.
The CMCEECIC Risk Committee, which deals mainly with Large Risks, is composed of members of the Board, the heads of the Large Corporate divisions and the head of the Commitments department. The decision-making mechanism also comprises various 
committees specialised by activity, such as the Group Risk Committee, which systematically ensures the sound organisation of the risk management system within each entity.

Risk monitoring
The organisation set in place provides for risk monitoring both at counterparty level and at portfolio level (e.g. outstanding loans and production).
At counterpary level, the information system extracts data from management databases to provide a view of all the commitments on a given counterparty at group level. This data is extracted for all the relevant aspects (products, location, borrowers in the counterpar
For Corporate and Investment Banking, counterparties are reviewed on a regular basis. In the case of Retail Banking, a system has been set in place to detect incipient risk. Commitments in all the main customer segments are monitored using early risk detection 
software, based on external and internal criteria, notably the functioning of the accounts. These indicators are designed to identify and deal with potential risk before payment default occurs.
At the loan portfolio level, the data extraction from the information system enables portfolios classified by main activity to be monitored and analysed using both static and dynamic approaches. Outstandings and production are analysed in terms of volume and quality. 
Risk management at this level is carried out by internal control staff and by the business manager and his operations staff. The Executive Board and the various committees concerned receive all the necessary information for monitoring commitment portfolios.

Debt collection
The system of detection and reclassification of doubtful loans complies with the prevailing regulations. Receivables management and debt collection is, with some exceptions, carried out by specialised units. Debt collection procedures can be divided into three phases: 
regularisation at sales level, out-of-court collection and litigation.
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Exposure 31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Loans and advances
Credit institutions 80 138 66 588

Customers 85 730 74 595
Gross exposure 165 868 141 183

Provisions for impairment
Credit institutions -15 -18

Customers -2 480 -2 582
Net exposure 163 373 138 583

Exposure 31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Financing commitments

given
Credit institutions 2 954 1 523

Customers 24 758 23 832
Guarantee commitments

given
Credit institutions 1 003 603

Customers 9 621 9 054
Provisions for risks on

commitments given 91 91

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Book Book
 value  value

Debt securities
Government securities 24 930 23 833

Bonds 57 992 52 820
Derivatives 5 626 3 660

Repurchase agreements and stock lending 5 998 6 170
Gross exposure 94 546 86 483

Provisions
for impairment of securities -3 -3

Net exposure 94 543 86 480

31.12.2005
%

Structure of interbank outstandings by rating
AAA and AA+ 3
AA and AA- 15

A+ and A 77
A- and BBB+ 3

BBB and below 2

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
% %

Geographic breakdown of interbank loans   
France 95 93

Rest of Europe 3 4
Rest of world 2 3

Credit risk on loans and advances to customers

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
% %

Breakdown by type of customer
General Public 54 51

Businesses 25 34
Large corporates 15 9

Specialised financing 4 4
Other 2 2

  

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
% %

Breakdown by geographic area
France 91 91

Rest of Europe 6 6
Rest of world 3 3
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31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Risk concentration

Commitments exceeding €300m Number 28 19
Loans in €m 4 448 2 763
Off-balance shee 7 416 5 314
Securities in €m 1 319 1 374

Commitments exceeding €100m Number 39 30
Loans in €m 5 667 3 681
Off-balance shee 9 964 8 709
Securities in €m 37 101

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
Risk quality
Loans and receivables written down individually 3 636 3 792
Provisions for individual and collective impairment -2 480 -2 582

Coverage 68,2% 68,1%

31.12.2005 01.01.2005
% %

Breakdown of risk by sector
 Agriculture and mining 1 1

 Manufacturing 14 14
 Business services and holding companies 16 16

 Personal services 42 42
 Financial services 3 3

 Real estate services 16 15
 Transport and communication 4 4
 Not broken down and other 4 5
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NOTE 38 - Market risk

NOTE 39 - Interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk

Analysis of financial instruments by type of interest rates

Amount at 31 December 2005 (in €m) Total 3 months to 1 year to More than 5 years
Interest rate maturity Less than 3 months 1 year 5 years
Fixed-rate -5 595 -18 778 -9 399 8 991 13 590
Variable-rate 1 745

RISKS MONITORED BY ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

ORGANISATION OF THE BUSINESS

The role and operating principles of asset and liability management are clearly defined within the BFCM group:
- asset and liability management is identified as a separate function from the dealing desk, with its own resources; 
- the primary objective of asset and liability management is to protect sales margins from interest rate and foreign exchange fluctuations and to stabilise earnings;
-  asset and liability management also aims to ensure immediate and dynamic liquidity to enable the bank to meet its commitments at all times and avoid any liquidity crisis;
-  asset and liability management is not a profit centre but a function at the service of the bank's profitability and development strategy.
The asset and liability management unit plays an active role in defining the commercial policy in terms of customer terms and conditions, rules covering internal disposal rates, the design of new products for customers and it also ensures a 
permanent link is maintained with the network sales and marketing staff.

For several years now, the bank has operated decentralised control over the asset and liability management function. Group risk management procedures and limits are set out in the "group balance sheet management guidelines" for use 
throughout the Crédit Mutuel-CIC group.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk arises on the group's business activity. It results from differences in interest rates and benchmark rates between sources and applications of funds. Analysis of interest rate risk also takes into account the volatility of 
outstandings on products with no contractual maturity date and hidden options (early loan repayment options, loan extension options, utilisation of credit lines, etc.).

Interest rate risk on all transactions arising from retail network activities is analysed and the residual balance sheet position is hedged globally using macro hedges. Transactions involving large amounts or with an unusual structure may be 
hedged using specific hedges. Risk limits are set based on the projected annual net banking income of each bank and the group as a whole.

The sensitivity of the net interest income margin to interest rate variances is calculated at national level.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The group places great importance on managing liquidity risk and BFCM provides long-term refinancing for the group. To this end, the group monitors the various regulatory liquidity indicators:

- the one-month liquidity ratio is representative of the group's short-term liquidity. It is calculated by weighting each bank's liquidity ratio by its total assets;
- the group's capital adequacy and core capital ratio reflect its medium to long-term liquidity. This is calculated by weighting the liquidity ratio of each bank by its total medium- and long-term application of funds.
The group regularly works with structurally lending bodies such as the European Investment Bank and the French home refinancing fund (Caisse de refinancement de l’habitat). The balance of the funds required for developing its business is 
collected on the financial markets through BFCM, the group refinancing body.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Each bank hedges the currency risk on customer transactions. The residual position in foreign currencies is very small. BFCM does not hold any structural balance sheet positions in foreign currencies with the exception of capital relating to its 
foreign branches.

ACCOUNTING FOR INTEREST RATE HEDGES

Description of risk covered and of hedging relationship
Hedges established as part of balance sheet management are designed to protect the bank's balance sheet against interest rate risk. Interest rate risk on market activities is managed directly by the trading desk and is not included in asset an
liability management. 
All these hedges comply with IAS 39 § AG114-AG132 portfolio hedge of interest rate risk, as published by the European Commission in October 2004 ("carve out" text).
Several hedging relationships are defined:
- Hedge of fixed-rate deposits using interest rate swaps (fixed rate lending/variable rate borrowing)
- Hedge of fixed-rate loans using interest rate swaps (fixed rate borrowing /variable rate lending).

Description of hedged items
1/ Portfolio of fixed-rate liabilities: sight deposits 
The items hedged are customer credit current accounts, hedged with interest rate swaps (fixed rate lending/variable rate borrowing).
2/ Portfolio of fixed-rate assets: loans 
The items hedged are fixed-rate loans to customers, hedged with interest rate swaps ((fixed rate borrowing /variable rate lending). 
The loan maturity schedule takes into account early repayment estimates. It does not take into account new loan production. Thus, over time, the hedged portfolios will decrease as instalments fall due and loans are paid off early.

Hedges
These consist of swaps initiated and/or monitored by asset and liability management and recorded in the company accounts as micro or macro hedges. Swaps are allocated to the two portfolios described above.

Efficiency tests to justify the setting in place of a hedge
Efficiency tests are carried out each time a hedge is set in place and at the end of each quarter.
In the event of under hedging, the hedging relationship is considered to be 100% efficient.

The maturity schedule presented here does not include market activities, which are monitored separately.
The maturity schedule is prepared based on asset and liability management rules, which apply flow assumptions to sight deposits and regulated savings accounts and assumptions of early loan repayment to customer loans.
The scope excludes non-financial instruments and equities.
Contracts are deemed to be at a variable rate when they are based on an index that can be reviewed at least once a year. Otherwise, they are deemed to be at a fixed rate.

Market risk management is based on a system of limits reflecting potential losses and internal scenarios and rules (including historical VaR, stress tests and CAD) that enable actual exposures to be expressed in terms of potential loss.
These limits cover the different types of market risk (interest rate, foreign exchange, equty and issuer risk) and are divided into sub-limits by type of risk for each activity. There can be no offsetting between the different types of risk.
Risk is monitored in respect of first level indicators (sensitivity to different market risk factors), mainly used by traders, and second level indicators (potential losses), which provide a more summarised view that is directly accessible to the
decision-making bodies.
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Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Amount At 31 December 2005 (in €m) Balance sheet Market
value value

Assets
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 80 123 80 144
   Loans and advances to customers 83 250 85 062
   Financial assets held to maturity 1 107 1 492
Liabilities
   Due to credit institutions 89 185 89 056
   Due to customers 56 880 56 895
   Debt securities 51 415 51 518
   Subordinated debt 5 742 5 808

Effective interest rate of financial instruments recorded at amortised cost

At 31 December 2005 Interest rate

Assets
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 3,1%
   Loans and advances to customers 4,3%
   Financial assets held to maturity
Liabilities 0,0%
   Due to credit institutions 3,0%
   Due to customers 1,8%

NOTE 40 - Transactions with related parties

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Confédération 
Nationale

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

CMCEE Group parent 
company

Confédération 
Nationale

Assets

Loans, advances and securities
   Loans and advances to credit institutions  47 054  41 246
   Loans and advances to customers  
   Securities  75 nd
Other assets  
Total 0 75 0 41 246 0

Liabilities
Deposits
  Due to credit institutions 31 46 556  18 40 766
  Due to customers 51 11
Debt securities 5
Other liabilities  nd
Total 82 5 29 40 766 0

Financing commitments and guarantees

Financing commitments given 0 1 000
Guarantee commitments given 0

Financing commitments received 0 95 83
Guarantee commitments received 0

31.12.05 01.01.05

The fair values given here are estimates based on actual parameters as at 31 December 2005. They are based on discounted future cash flows estimated based on a yield curve that does not
take into account the debtor's inherent signature risk.
The financial instruments referred to in this note are loans and borrowings. They do not include non-monetary instruments (equity shares), trade payables, other assets, other liabilities or accrual accounts. Non-financial instruments are not
covered by this note.
The fair value of on-demand financial instruments and customers' regulated savings contracts is the value that can be demanded by the customer, i.e. the book value. 
Some group entities also apply the following assumption: the market value is the book value for variable-rate contracts, or contracts with a residual maturity of one year or less. 
We draw the reader's attention to the fact that, excepting financial assets held to maturity, financial instruments recorded at amortised cost cannot be sold or, in practice, disposed of before maturity. Accordingly,no capital gains or losses will be
recognised.
However, if a financial instrument recognised at amortised cost were to be sold, the disposal proceeds could be significantly different to the fair value calculated as at 31 December.

The scope does not include market trading activities. The scope does not include non-financial instruments and equity shares. 
For fixed-rate instruments, the effective interest rate is the interest rate that brings the present value of future cash flows into line with the book value. For variable-rate instruments, the effective rate is the last known yield curve.
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Profit and loss items relating to transactions with related parties

2004

Compagnies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Confédération 
Nationale

Compagnies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

CMCEE Group parent 
company

Confédération 
Nationale

Interest received 0 1 358  1 356
Interest paid 0 (1 013)  (1 045)

 
Fees and commissions received  7  1 5
Fees and commissions paid  (190)  (174)

Other income and charges  3

Gross margin on insurance activities  164  142

Overheads

Total 0 329 0 1 284 0

The BFCM group's parent company is the consolidated entity of the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Group of : FCMCEE-CFMCEE-CCMCEE + FCMSE-CRSE-CCMSE + FCMIDF-CRIDF-CCMIDF + CMH.

The Confédération Nationale is made up of Caisse Centrale du rédit Mutuel and the other regional federations of Crédit Mutuel not affiliated to the CMCEE Group.

Relations with the parent companies consist mainly of loans and borrowings in the context of cash management, BFCM being the group's refinancing body, and IT services billed through the Euro-information entities.

Relations with the Group's main corporate officers

The Board of Directors of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is currently composed of 15 members appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a term of three years and 3 Censors also appointed by the Board for

three years in accordance with Article 20 of the Memorandun and Articles of Association. The list of members of the Board and functions exercised in other companies is shown in the appendix as required by law. The Board

includes representatives of partner Crédit Mutuel groupe (Ile-de-France et Sud-Est) and of associated group (Loire-Atlantique Centre Ouest, Laval, Normandy and Centre). Two employees sit on the Board as respresentatives

of the interfederal Works Council. There are no attendance fees or stock options. The remuneration of the Chaiman and the Chief executive Officer is fixed by the Remunerations Committee in accordance with the conditions laid

down by law.

Total compensation paid to the main corporate officers
Salary - Salary - Benefits - Total

0 € Fixed portion variable portion in-kind
Main corporate officers 894 580 9 1 483

NOTE 41 - Post-balance sheet events and other information

2005

No events occurred between 31 December 2005 and the date the financial statements were prepared that would be likely to have a material impact on the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the BFCM group for the year ended 31 December 2005 were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2006. 
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KMT Audit S.A.R.L. Barbier Frinault & Autres 
KPMG network Ernst & Young 
BP 20002 Schiltigheim 41, rue Ybry 
67013 Strasbourg Cedex 92576 Neuilly-sur-Seine 
S.A.R.L. with share capital of €50,000 S.A.S. with minimum variable share capital of €37,000 
 
Auditors Auditors 
Member of the Compagnie Régionale de Colmar Member of the Compagnie Régionale de Versailles 
 
 
 
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
BFCM 
Year ended 31 December 2005 
 
Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements 
 
 
To the Shareholders, 
 
In accordance with the assignment entrusted to us by the General Meeting, we have audited 
the consolidated financial statements of BFCM for the year ended 31 December 2005, as 
appended. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements. It is our 
responsibility, based on our audit, to express an opinion on the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were prepared for the first time in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. They contain comparative 
data for 2004 restated on the same basis except for IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4, which were 
applied by the Group as from 1 January 2005 as permitted by the option offered by IFRS 1. 
 
I. Opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards applicable in France. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform our work so as to obtain reasonable assurance that 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit includes 
an examination, on a test basis, of evidence relating to the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the accounting policies used and of the 
significant estimates made by management in the preparation of the financial statements, and 
an evaluation of their overall presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for the opinion expressed below. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, give a 
true and fair view of the results of the Group formed by the entities included in the 
consolidation scope and of its assets, liabilities and financial position. 
 
II. Justification of our assessments 
 
In application of the provisions of Article L.832-9 of the Commercial Code relating to the 
justification of our assessments, we inform you of the following: 

 78

fidalgva
Zone de texte
81



- Your Group recognises provisions, as indicated in note 3.4 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, to cover the credit risks inherent in its business. We 
have examined the control mechanism relating to the monitoring of credit risks, 
provisioning methodologies, the assessment of the risks of non-collection and their 
coverage by individual and/or collective provisions. 

 
- Your Group uses internal models and methodologies to value financial instruments that 

are not traded on active markets, and also for establishing certain provisions and assessing 
the appropriateness of designated hedging transactions. We have examined the control 
mechanism relating to verification of the models and setting of the parameters used. 

 
- Your Group recognises provisions to cover staff-related commitments as described in 

notes 3.10 and 20 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. As part of our 
work, we examined the assumptions and calculation methods used. 

 
The above assessments formed part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole and therefore contributed to reaching the opinion expressed in the first section of this 
report. 
 

III. Specific verifications 
We have also verified the information provided in the Group Management Report, in 
accordance with auditing standards applicable in France. 
 
We have no comments to make on the truth and fairness of this information or on its 
consistency with the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Strasbourg and Neuilly-sur-Seine, 7 April 2006 
 

The Auditors 
KMT Audit S.A.R.L. Barbier Frinault & Autres 
KPMG network 
 
 
[signature]  [signature]   [signature] [signature] 
  
Henri Koenig  Arnaud Bourdeille  Richard Olivier Olivier Durand 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BFCM 
Year ended 31 December 2005 
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as at December 2005 

 
 
 
 

 
Board of Directors 
 
 Etienne PFLIMLIN, Chairman 
 Michel LUCAS, CEO&Director 
 Paul SCHWARTZ, Vice-President 
 Marie-Paule BLAISE  
 Jean-Louis BOISSON 
 Jean-Marie CONROY 
 Maurice CORGINI 
 Gérard CORMORECHE 
 Roger DANGUEL 
 François DURET, représentant la SAS CLOE 
 Jean-Louis GIRODOT 
 Jacques HUMBERT 
 Robert LAVAL 
 Jean-Paul MARTIN 
 Bernard MORISSEAU 
 
   
Censors : 
 
 Michel BOKARIUS 
 Claude DUVAL 
 Michel FORNAS   
 
Independent auditors : 
 
  
  Barbier, Frinault et Autres 
  Membre de la Compagnie Régionale de Versailles 
 
  KMT Audit 
  Membre de la Compagnie Régionale de Colmar 
 
Deputy independent auditors : 
 
  Pascal MACIOCE 
  Membre de la Compagnie Régionale de Versailles 
 
  Pascal BROUARD 
  Membre de la Compagnie Régionale de Colmar 
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